


“To facilitate growth and prosperity for people across East Africa.
We are an East African Bank, looking to support trade and the development of business across 
the region. This in turn creates opportunity for the customer business owners as they produce 
increased profits, for their employees, as they receive long lasting and stable employment and for 
the community at large as the economic benefits of the opportunities created are felt. We are also 
creating growth for our employees both in terms of the financial rewards associated with being 
employed and performing well, and from wider development of knowledge, skills, behaviours and 
cultural belonging.”

To be the leading business bank across East Africa, delivering excellent customer service through 
highly motivated teams and a rewarding work environment.

A Acting together in teamwork
 We shall work together in a cooperative and supportive manner to achieve our shared goals.

F Fostering trust and always professional
 We shall transact business in a knowledgeable, diligent and skillful manner while continuing to
 foster trustworthy relationships by being proactive, professional and accountable at all times.

R Responsible to the wider community
 We will partner with the communities that we work in as a way of giving back.

I Integrity and honesty
 We shall seek to be honest and have integrity in all we do.

C Customer oriented
 We shall continue to offer superior products by consistently getting things right and using our  
 resources optimally to meet our customer’s need.

A Agents for change and innovation
 We shall be agents for change and innovation in economic development by empowering our  
 staff and customers while building our capacity to promote sustained economic growth by  
 embracing a creative environment in all we do to continuously improve our people, products  
 and processes.

Our Vision

Our Mission

Our Values
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On behalf of the Board, I’m pleased to present the Bank’s 
2010 Financial Statements.

The Economic Environment
The year presented a stable macroeconomic environment enabling 
strong growth in the regional economies and allowing enterprises 
and businesses to prosper. The economy grew at circa 5%, compared 
to the 2-3% growth in the two preceding years. The growth was large 
attributed to favourable weather conditions, increased liquidity in the 
banking system and prudent macroeconomic management.  These 
factors contributed healthily to the agricultural and manufacturing 
sectors, which grew at 5.7% and 7.7% respectively.

The year also marked the promulgation of the new constitution 
in Kenya. Kenyans voted in a peaceful referendum to usher in the 
new constitution which we believe will lead to stronger government 
institutions and improved governance. In addition Kenya’s credit 
rating was raised from B to B+ by Standard & Poors primarily due to 
reduced political risks. The improved rating is expected to increase 
optimism in the prospects of our economy. That said, the beginning 
of 2011 has witnessed unforeseen events, such as the unrest in 
the Middle East and North Africa, coupled with a spike in oil and 
commodity prices. The resultant inflation and exchange rate volatility 
could have a significant impact on our economy going forward.

Financial Performance 
In 2010, the Group’s profit before tax increased by 4.2% to 
Kes226.5million.  Total assets grew to 20.9billion, representing 14.3% 
growth over the previous year. Our customer deposits increased by 
14.6% to 16.9billion.

Chairman’s Report

Fina Bank took advantage of the favorable 
environment in the year that was marked by 
flourishing business in Kenya, Uganda and 
Rwanda. The group richly developed in terms of 
branch expansion, technology up grade and risk 
management.
      Mr. Dhanu Chandaria
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To supplement our capital requirements, the bank issued a 7 year 
subordinated debt note in late 2010.  The proceeds were earmarked 

to enable the bank pursue its strategic growth and expansion 
program, and strengthen our capital ratios. 

The Group
The focal point for the Group remains to create an East African 
Business Bank which focuses on establishing meaningful relationships 
with its clients and providing excellent customer service. This strategic 
focus has been reinforced by the progress made in our new markets 

Chairman’s Report

Fina bank employee handing a donation during a visit to a children’s home

Fina bank Chairman Mr. dhanu Chandaria (right), Mr. steve Mainda (left) assist 
Central bank governor Prof. njuguna ndungu cut the cake to celebrate the official 
opening of Fina bank ngong Road branch.
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of Rwanda and Uganda. During the year we continued to expand 
our branch network strategically. Three additional branches were 
launched in Rwanda, two in Uganda and two in Kenya, bringing our 
regional network to 28.  

The number of businesses transacting across the region, either by 
setting up offices in different countries or establishing customer/
supplier relationships is significantly increasing. This, coupled with 
the progress made in developing the East African Community 
positions the bank well to exploit the opportunities presented across 
the region, and in this respect we are very happy to reaffirm our 
approach.

How we deliver banking services to our customers in the future 
will clearly change. The impact of technology in redefining delivery 
channels is likely to be huge, and presents a real opportunity for 
an organisation of our size to compete with Institutions far bigger 
than us who historically have had the advantage of a large branch 
network. This is something we are actively exploring within our 
strategic framework.

Going forward, we aim to provide innovative solutions in a 
sustainable manner. In this context, we have commenced a key 
project to replace our Core Banking System and overhaul our IT 
infrastructure.  This is aimed at creating a more robust platform for 
supporting the Group’s businesses. The significant investment in the 
new IT platform will provide a launch pad for new products, diverse 
delivery channels, improved  customer  service,  enhanced  security  
and risk management, better reporting and compliance monitoring, 
as well as scalability which will support the Group’s growth well into 
the future. 

Through any change, review, or initiative there is one important 
component that needs to be recognised – our people. Success is 
difficult to achieve without staff who are knowledgeable and possess 
the right skills. In this regard, we continue to focus on attracting, 
motivating, developing and retaining of talent at all levels in the 
organization. With the support of organizations like FMO & KFW, we 
were able to run several learning and capacity building programmes 
during the year. But knowledge and skill alone do not deliver success.  

Chairman’s Report

It is the attitude of the people within the organisation that underpins 
success, displayed as commitment, loyalty, proactivity and passion. 
And the Group continues to see examples of these many times across 
its operations over the past 12 months.  

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all our partners, 
particularly our loyal customers, regulators and service partners for 
their continued support and partnership that has enabled us deliver 
these results. I particularly wish to thank management and staff for 
their commitment during the very engaging and activity-packed year 
of 2010. I thank them for their personal commitment, diligence 
and dedication. I also wish to acknowledge with appreciation my 
colleagues on the Board. The Directors continue to give their time 
and very valuable expertise and experience to the Group. This 
contribution cannot be taken for granted and I thank them most 
sincerely.

Looking Forward 
As we look into 2011 and beyond, we expect the regional 
economies to continue its growth momentum, especially in light of 
the significant infrastructure projects and regional integration. The 
Bank will continue to capitalize on its core competencies in the 
Business Banking market, while exploiting opportunities arising out 
of the breaking down of barriers across East Africa. In this respect 
the opportunities are great. The success or otherwise in all three 
countries where we are present will ultimately depend on our ability 
to provide excellent customer service. In this regard, we will continue 
to challenge ourselves to improve further.

On this note, I look forward to a fulfilling and successful 2011

MR. dhAnU ChAndARIA
Chairman
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In a year characterized by several adverse economic and financial 
events, we are pleased to announce another good set of results 
for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Within a period of two years, Fina Bank Uganda registered a lot of 
success in customer account numbers, staff growth and development 
as well as operational branches. 

The future holds many opportunities for Fina Bank Uganda as we 
continue our ceaseless efforts for innovation, and being drivers of 
change and development. Fina Bank Uganda will continue being 
guided by the principle of customer focus and stakeholder value.        
I believe that the clear focus on customer satisfaction and stakeholder 
priorities, backed by sound corporate governance practices, will 
not only enable Fina Bank Uganda achieve ethical value but also 
sustainable value creation.

The outlook for our principal lines of business remains favourable 
given the robust macroeconomic environment; increasing corporate 
activity and active inter regional trade and commerce. Further 
development of our branch network and service quality in the East 
African region creates attractive opportunities.

We have clearly identified business areas where we want to enhance 
our presence by expanding our branch network. Such plans are 
being executed and we are set to increase our branch network from 
the existing 5 to 9 branches in the year 2011. The current product 
range will be enhanced to include electronic banking channels 
and new products to suit the various customer needs while new 
innovations will be explored in areas such as long and mid-term 
mortgage financing.

In an increasingly competitive environment, managing our talent becomes central 
to the growth strategy of the bank. The successful performance for 2010 is testimony 
to the depth of knowledge and skills in the bank. 
           Mr. Charles Nalyaali

CEO’s Report - Uganda
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In an increasingly competitive environment, managing our talent 
becomes central to the growth strategy of the bank. The successful 
performance for 2010 is testimony to the depth of knowledge and 
skills in the bank. The rapid expansion of the banking industry has 
created skills need gap, which has made our staff a recruitment 
target for our competitors. Fina Bank Uganda is however committed 
to becoming the employer of choice in the industry and to that end; 
we will continue to invest significant resources in the growth and 
development of our human capital.
 
In line with the bank vision of remaining relevant within the 
communities that we operate in, the bank together with its staff 
contributed both financially and in kind to various community 
projects during 2010. 

The achievements would not have been possible without the 
guidance and co-operation from our Customers, Board of Directors, 

Bank of Uganda and other government and regulatory agencies. I 
would also like to appreciate the dedicated efforts put in by the 
Bank’s employees and look forward to their continued contribution 
in enabling us live by our motto of “Your Partner in Growth and 
Development”.

MR. ChARles nAlyAAlI
CEO

CEO’s Report - Uganda    
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MD’s Report - Rwanda

It was expected that a very successful year of 2009 will be followed 
by a dodgy one of 2010. However it is quite satisfying that 
despite a number of unfavorable factors that ambushed us; Fina 

Bank Rwanda came up with a resilient performance for the current 
year. More satisfying is that the Bank has been successful in either 
holding on to or improving its market position under a number of 
parameters.

With a prudent monetary policy and accommodative exchange rate 
mechanism adopted during 2010, National Bank of Rwanda (BNR) 
could reasonably ring fence Rwandan economy against pass-through 
effect of global financial crisis.

From the bank’s point of view, we maintained comfortable levels 
of liquidity throughout the year to absorb unplanned additional 
credit demands of existing customers, who continue to face cash 
flow constraints. However the current year has been a year of 
consolidation and quality growth for us.

Major focus points have been up scaling skills, branch expansion, 
technology up grade and bank-wide risk management. During 
the year more than 50% of staff had undergone external training 
programs. These included mainly; leadership, productivity, project 
management, trade finance and risk based programs. In 2010, we 
opened agencies in Nyirangarama, Ruhango and Nyabugogo with 
firmed up plans to open six more outlets in the current year.

We are pleased to note that with the upgraded technology and 
networking we achieved more than 99 percent of uptime of our 
systems and ATM network. 

The current year presents its own set of challenges. We will continue to expand 
our branch and “guichet” network in the country recognizing that many of our clients 
are not headquartered in Kigali. 
            Mr. Rao Balivada
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Financial Review 
Our profit before tax for 2010 was Rwf 553m (2009 Rwf 1.1b). The 
performance can be rated creditable  on the face of the following:
	 •	 We	had	to	take	a	hit	of	above	Rwf	178m	under	a	conscious		
  policy to clean up all the past issues, some outstanding since  
  2006. 
	 •	 The	bank	had	to	absorb	an	impact	of	Rwf	349	m	towards	tax		
  payments arising out of management fee paid in prior years

Following legislative changes to the Finance Leases Act, derecognizing 
capital allowances on leased assets, the bank wrote off prior period 
deferred tax asset of Rwf 325m, thereby recording a nominal after 
tax profit of Rwf 4m.

As reported in 2009, the bank continues to operate on narrow spreads, 
by avoiding passing on incremental cost of funds to borrowing clients. 
Growth in net interest income for the year, therefore, was 13%. Net 
fee and commission income recorded robust increase of 74% (2009 
15%), justifying our investment in up scaling trade finance skills of 
forty of our staff members in the beginning of the year. 

Foreign Exchange earnings were up by 31% reflecting strong treasury 
operations supported by new Reuter dealing system put in place 
during the year. In spite of less than budgeted performance in 
recovering previously written off loans, the total operating income of 
Rwf 5.7bn was 21% above that of 2009.

Given the growth in branch network and its attendant costs, operating 
expenses were expected to increase significantly. However the actual 
numbers at Rwf 4.9bn (2009 Rwf 3.6bn) showing 37% increase, 
indeed include exceptional items of about Rwf 527m mentioned 
elsewhere above. Lest the increase would have been 21% (2009 
29%), indicating effective expenses control under the philosophy of 
‘compatibility, comparability and necessity’ of cost management.

To reiterate, year 2010 being a year of consolidation and quality 
growth, the bank did not increase the loan-book aggressively. As a 
corollary pace of growth in resource mobilization was also cautious, 
with focus on CASA (Current Account/ Savings Account) deposits for 
a better spread of business and individual accounts, rather than of 
institutions. It is pleasing to note that the entire deposit growth of 

Rwf 3.3bn (above 9%) in the year was contributed by CASA. Overall, 
the Balance Sheet grew by 11%.

The bank remained fully and uniformly compliant with all regulatory 
and statutory requirements during the year. Government of Rwanda 
continues to remain a shareholder with 8% capital and as reported 
in 2009 and may opt to divest to public, as the Capital Market 
operations become more pronounced, given the overwhelming 
response the first IPO of Rwanda got in December 2010.            

Business Banking
‘Full value of relationship’ and ‘total financial solution’ concepts 
enabled the bank to retain its position as a preferred banker by 
a number of major business houses in Rwanda. During the year 
the bank conducted customer contact meetings in an informal 
atmosphere, which helped strengthening of corporate relationships.       

Medium Small and Micro Enterprises 
Banking 
Fina has now become synonymous to SME banking with the 
entire relationship team getting several trainings including, credit 
assessment for small loans, financial analysis, trade finance products 
and delinquency management, resulting in better handling of SME 
customers.

The capacity building exercise through active engagement of 
Shore bank resource, under Kfw relationship, helped the bank in 
handholding SME customers and coaching them on better business 
practices and repayment culture; which has now become a sort of 
USP for the bank.

The recently introduced Insurance Premium Finance product “FINA 
IPF”, which finances the upfront payment of insurance premium, 
seeks to ease the impact of annual one-off cash outflows for our 
customers. The product being on offer to all business, SME and retail 
customers besides non customers has been well received by the 
market. We can gauge its success by the numbers it churns out in 
the current year.

MD’s Report - Rwanda
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Consumer Banking 
With SIMTEL matters moving on substantially by signing a more 
reasonable bilateral SLA in October 2010, the bank has embarked 
on an aggressive ATM expansion and card penetration strategy. At 
the end of 2010 the bank had 8 ATMs and 2,460 card holders. 
By The end of 2012, we shall have a network of at least 20 ATMs 
and 20,000 card holders. We propose to install a few standalone 
ATMs besides on-site ones at all outlets. All personal account holders 
will have cards, which are interoperable within Rwanda Switch. For 
the current year other areas of focus shall be bringing on board 
MasterCard, expansion of PoS and introduction of co-branded 
cards.

With a view to dispense convenient and real time service to customers, 
in 2010 the bank started mailing e-statements and sending SMS 
alerts to customers on their transactions. Related objective to this is 
to reduce paper consumption and ease stress of deforestation.

We shall be introducing e-banking soon and with the Rwanda 
Integrated Payment Processing System (RIPPS), an Automated Funds 
Transfer System on real time basis, in place we will be in a position to 
offer additional and convenient banking services to our customers. 
It gives me pleasure in reporting that in the beginning of the current 
year we signed an agreement with MoneyGram, upgrading us to 
super agent status, thus authorizing the bank to appoint sub-agents 
for expanded outreach to Rwandans for money transfer facility.

Our current Core Banking Software (CBS) is going to be phased out 
by the end of 2011. During 2010, we have embarked on evaluation 
of new CBS solution providers; and with firmed up strategy now in 
place, the bank plans to  migrate to a new integrated and versatile 
CBS during the current year.

As already mentioned, the bank opened three outlets in 2010 and 
plans to open  six during the current year. In all, consumer and 
transaction banking continues to be the mainstay of the bank.  

CARE management
In mid 2010, the bank introduced an internal monitoring system of 
Cost of funds, Asset quality, Recoveries and Expenses management 

called ‘CARE’ management. Our achievement being reasonably 
satisfactory under all parameters, despite branch expansion 
and exceptional items; we shall continue to focus on CARE 
management.

Risk Management
Risk Management is so dynamic, we have been following bank-
wide risk management policy in line with regional strategies, BNR 
guidelines and global practices, as needed for local imperatives. 
With a view to have a comprehensive risk management practice the 
bank upgraded all the existing policies and introduced new policies 
covering compliance risk, governance risk, regulatory risk, branch 
operations, procurement and recruitment among others during 
2010.
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For their commitment, hard work and un satiated urge to excel, I 
am ever thankful to all the members of staff in Rwanda. I am proud 
of them for their participation in Umuganda (community service) 
and other CSR activities. The bank was adjudged ‘the best financial 
institution in Rwanda’ for 2009. That triggered fierce competition 
and we are flattered by the response of the competition. Although 

we are not the best, we were ‘runners up’ for 2010 and hope to 
continue to be a force to reckon with, in the years to come. 

MR. RAo bAlIVAdA
Managing Director

MD’s Report - Rwanda
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Quality Customer Service at Thika Branch
In line with the bank’s strategy customer service was the focus 
for 2010. Accordingly, activities for the year were geared towards 
enhancing our relationship with our customers and business 
partners.
 
To achieve the set objectives staff at Thika Branch divided themselves 
into two teams, namely Eagles and Madrigal and worked competitively 
on how to creatively attract and retain customers throughout the 
year. Also there was a product that teams focused on promoting 
each month and went on to devise ways that to do it. 

At the start of each day, various banners were displayed outside the 
bank as work-stations delivering unique services that pleased the 
clientele. 

At the end of the Customer Service Week, staff at the Thika Branch 
organized a football match between one of our clients, The Real IPM 
and the bank’s team Fina FC. The match was played on a Saturday 
afternoon and was witnessed by the Executive Director Mr. Hanish 
Chandaria, the bank’s Executive Director, Mr. Michael Obiero, Head 
of Service Delivery, and Ms. Bernadette Ngara, Head of Marketing, 
among many Fina FC supporters. 

The match ended with a 4-3 victory for Fina FC and was a good 
initiative that presented a unique way of bonding between the 
members of staff and the customers.  

More exciting activities were planned and executed throughout the 
year which guaranteed the bank new business as well as retaining 
the existing business through consistently exceeding customer 
expectations and exceptional service delivery.  

Reaching out to Communities  
Commitment and dedication to promoting Fina Bank brand, 
products and services as well as transforming societies in which we 
do business in are just some of the cherished virtues that we embrace 
in all our branches. 

Employees at our Mombasa Branch aptly demonstrated these through 
their dedication and active participation in various community events 
at the coastal town.  

Fina Bank - Kenya

Fina bank thika branch member of staff attend to a customer to deliver Quality 
Customer service geared towards enhancing our relationship with our customers 
and business partners.

the Real IPM FC pose for a prematch photo to mark the end of the Customer 
service week at the thika Municipal stadium. Fina FC won 4-3.
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Among the events they participated in included an NGO forum for 
the youth dubbed ‘Connecting Youth to Employment.’ Despite the 
short notice given to the staff, they gave an impressive performance. 
An informative business presentation titled ‘Why Small Businesses 
Fail’ which the staff did at the forum resonated well with the youth, 
a majority of whom desired to set up their own businesses.   

Consequently the team also participated in the Oshwal Yuvak Sang 
Fund Raising Swimming Gala whose aim was to raise funds for 
drilling a community borehole in Mombasa. 

In addition, the Mombasa team was also involved in a charity walk 
that had been organized by the Cerebral Palsy Foundation with 
the aim of raising funds to support its medical care to Cerebral 
Palsy patients. Also the staff attended a United Nation’s Women 
Entrepreneur Empowerment Forum where they also facilitated a 
discussion on the topic ‘10-Reasons on Why Small Businesses Fail.’ 

In all these events and many others that Fina Bank Mombasa Branch 
participated in, Fina Bank brand was highly visible and attracted 
many questions and from participants who expressed willingness to 
partner with us. 

Acknowledging Winners
Upon completion of the first month into the Customer Service 
Focus initiative that started at the beginning of the year, the service 
committee conducted its first review of the bank’s wide performance 
through various service champions. 

During the review, it was encouraging to note that some branches 
and departments had grasped the true spirit of the initiative and had 
gone ahead to promote the same using various resources that were 
readily available to them. The most outstanding initiatives under 
review came from Thika Branch and Central Operations at Fina 
Bank Kimathi Branch. 

To stand out from the crowd, Thika Branch invited some of its top 
corporate clients to the bank for an informal meeting that included a 
cup of tea/coffee and interacted closely with them. 

The staff at Thika Branch gave out rose flowers to all clients during 
the St. Valentine’s Day as well as dust coats to 5 of its top industrial 
customers through an initiative that was called ‘Know your customer 
and their needs.’ This was motivated by the fact that Thika is an 

Fina bank Mombasa branch Manager Mr. Patrick nzuki, held a successful meeting 
with the Chairman of Mt. kenya University, Mr gicheru, that sought to promote 
the bank’s Fina young biz product as well as cement the mutual partnership 
between the two organisations.

Fina bank Mombasa branch joined hands with lions Club of Mombasa Pwani to 
mark the world service day, a day dedicated to serving the physically challenged 
children. 

Fina Bank - Kenya
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industrial town and therefore the coats will help clients in their 
businesses. 

Through these kind gestures, Thika Branch proved that making the 
customer happy does not necessarily depend on spending but the 
motivation and desire to offer unrivalled service.  

The Central Operations Department at Kimathi Branch was tasked 
to establish a service champions’ consultation forum every Tuesday 
of the week to review on the successes or failures of the past week. 
This team reported back to the larger Central Operations where 
upon consultations, various means and ways of improvement were 
devised.  

This forum came up with many initiatives which touched on the 
mode of delivery on how to advice customers, interaction with the 
internal customer, that is having face to face meetings instead of 
communicating through emails on issues affecting the customer. 

Feedback from Central Operations indicated that there was a marked 
improvement in the Credit Department in the way they responded 
to the internal customers and that there was an improvement in 
process flow which trickled down to enhanced service delivery. 

Thika Branch and Central Operations gave their best for the good 
of the bank.  

Fina Bank Promotes Customer’s Growth 
Fina Bank strongly believes in partnering with businesses, equipping 
them not only financially but also through giving solid advice and 
mentorship that ensures their sustainability and growth. 

The Bank’s presence in Kenya, Uganda and Rwanda has given us an 
in-depth knowledge and experience in working with businesses that 
are in various sectors as well as operate in varied economies. 

Last year, Margaret Kimurgong T/A MargdaJohn Enterprises, one of 
our loyal customers in Eldoret Branch invited Fina Bank to celebrate 
with her as she launched her new Hotel located within the town.

Margaret a committed customer at Fina Bank Eldoret Branch bears 
testimony of our commitment in encouraging business growth. She 
became our client while operating a small hotel within the town. 

Customers receive rose flowers during valentines day from the staff at thika 
branch.

Fina bank thika branch member of staff gives a rose flower to an esteemed 
client to mark Valentines day.

Fina Bank - Kenya
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Through partnership with Fina Bank, the small hotel grew over the 
years and consequently bloomed into a much bigger business called 
Tropical Hotel. 

As she launched Tropical Hotel, the bank’s employees at the Eldoret 
Branch were honored to represent the entire Fina Bank at the event 
which attracted many people. The staff used the opportunity to 
display banners within the hotel. 

“As the preferred regional SME and business bank, we strongly 
believe in partnering with businesses and equipping them not only 
financially but also through giving solid advice and mentorship that 
ensures their sustainability and growth,” said Mr. Hanish Chandaria 
in a speech read on his behalf by Eldoret Branch Manager,
Mr. Richard Maritim during the launch.

Margaret could not contain her excitement as she received accolades 
from Fina Bank. She requested the Bank to retain the banners and 
fliers in the hotel as a marketing strategy for at least two weeks.  

Empowering Lives at Illula Children Home
In actualizing Fina Bank’s value of responsible to the wider community, 
Eldoret Branch staff visited Illula Children’s Home which cares for 
more than 200 orphans. The home is supported by Empowering 
Lives International but also raises its own funds for the children’s 
upkeep through engaging in sustainable agriculture and agro-forestry 
training, organic farming among other agriculture related activities.

Fina Bank’s visit to the home coincided with the children’s home 
fundraising marathon activity dubbed ‘Watoto Water Run’ which 
aimed to raise funds for drilling a 200 metres borehole to boost their 
water supply.  

The senior children’s marathon was 10Kms long and had one the 
competitors breaking the previous year’s record. During the race, 
it was evident that these upcoming young athletes drew a lot of 
inspiration from the professional athletes they watch on TV.

Our experience at the home was indeed one of a kind. We realized 
there was a lot more in the children’s life than what meets the eye.  
The experience reminded us that we should not bury our heads in 
the sand and ignore the problems that affect people around us. 

Fina Bank - Kenya

Fina bank eldoret branch Manager Mr. Richard Maritim and the eldoret team at 
the launch of tropical hotel.

Fina bank IAb branch donates food stuff to a Children’s home in dandora. Fina 
bank values responsibility to the wider community.
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Fina Bank’s tradition is to understand the problems facing the 
communities we do business with and create unique ways to offer 
solutions that will transform their lives. At the children’s home, Fina 
Bank identified areas of need and consequently reached out and 
provided amicable solutions. 

As the bank presented gifts to the children, staff felt a sense of pride 
and satisfaction through their involvement in this noble cause. 

Fina Bank Officially opens Meru Branch
March 2010 marked the opening of a new branch at Alexander 
Building, along Ghana Road in Meru town.

The branch aims to enhance interactions between the bank and the 
Meru Business community expanding networks so as to get close to 
the customers. Prior to the launch the bank held two cocktail events 
in order to emphasize on the partnership between the bank and the 
community.

Gracing the launch and grand opening was Fina bank chairman Mr. 
Dhanu Chandaria together with Central Bank Kenya director of bank 
supervision, Mr. Frederick Pere, Director Mr. Steve Mainda among 
other bank officials.

Fina Bank Executive Director, Mr. Hanish Chandaria said that the 
Meru Branch is set to continue the bank’s commitment in providing 
a full range of tailored financial solutions to assist local businesses. 

The new branch is set to offer ideal banking services in Kenya’s 8th 
largest town through offering quality and unrivalled banking products 
and services to the local community. Fina Bank focus remains to the 
farmers and business people in the area to grow their businesses 
through providing growth-oriented and tailor made financial services. 

Fina Bank’s Regional Business Manager, Mr. Norris Digo emphasized 
that the bank’s confident and able workforce will strive to partner 
with the local business community to enable the bank to offer 
innovative tailored financial solutions to customers in the most 
efficient, effective and consistent way. 

Fina Bank has been in operations for 25 years and has branches in 
Kenya, Uganda and Rwanda. It is known not only for its excellent 
services to businesses but also for its commitment to effectively and 
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Fina bank regional business manager Mr. norris digo interacts during a cocktail 
party at the eve of the Meru branch launch.

Fina bank eldoret branch Manager Mr. Richard Maritim (l) presenting a cheque 
to {R-l} Mr.toroitich, operations director, empowering lives kenya, Mr. laban 
Rono, director Illula Childrens home and Mr. teimugen director, empowering 
lives-kenya. the cheque was presented to support the drilling of a borehole 
for Ilula Children’s home during the children’s marathon. kshs 450, 000 was 
raised.
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Fina bank staff appreciates a customer during customer service week.

efficiently satisfy its customers by providing personalized customer 
service and unrivalled banking products and services across the East 
Africa Region.

Customer Focus Week 
Customer Focus Week is a Fina Bank initiative that serves to show 
our appreciation to the customer. Started in 2010 the initiative is 
conducted every month at different intervals across branches. 

Customer focus week aims to increase interaction between the bank, 
the existing and potential customers as well as promoting various 
products and services. 

It rallied support from both the Service Delivery Department and 
Business Banking teams of various branches with their efforts 
supplemented by the Marketing Department and other related units. 

In one of the initiative conducted at Industrial Area Branch (IAB), 
the staff dedicated their time to promote certain products that had 
been pointed out. However, while the team placed much emphasis 
on promoting the Free N’GO product. 

The branch started the Customer Focus Week by highlighting the 
Personal and Business Chequer Accounts and continued throughout 
the subsequent days with other products which included Fina Saver, 
Fina Plan, Fina Junior, Term Deposits, and Current Salary Accounts 
among others. Each day also saw different people taking the lead 
role as product champions.

In addition, IAB aimed at healing relationships that severed in the 
past drawing valuable lessons from those experiences through 
listening to the disappointed clients. 

IAB accorded its customers preferential treatment by offering quality 
services, fulfilling pledges, listening to their needs and going beyond 
their expectations. The branch offered refreshments to customers 
while several staff members did banking for them.

Furthermore, staff at the branch took a bold step getting to know the 
customers names as they interacted, the team presented certificates 
of appreciation to some clients. These simple gestures immensely 
delighted customers.

Cbk’s director of bank supervision, Mr. Frederick Pere is assisted to cut the cake 
to officially open Meru branch by Fina bank chairman, Mr. dhanu Chandaria 
(right) and Fina bank director, Mr. steve Mainda (left).

Fina Bank - Kenya
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As the branch came to the end of the Customer Focus Week, staff 
resolved to keep up the spirit of excellence and customer satisfaction 
burning. The branch committed to ensure that the key values of 
empathy, patience and honesty while dealing with customers our 
dealings with customers will continue to be exercised by everyone. 

The branch embraced a positive attitude to continue offering the 
best and thus team spirit embodied with proper support from other 
departments were to ensure success in the team and business growth 
for Fina Bank. 

Ngong Road Branch officially opens  
Fina Bank Ngong Road Branch officially opened doors in 2010 at 
Piedmont Plaza, along Ngong Road, Nairobi. The new branch is 
strategically aimed at providing banking services to a wider customer 
base as well as increasing the bank’s delivery channels. 

The Central Bank of Kenya Governor, Prof. Njuguna Ndungu who was 
the guest of honor at the official launch of the branch, held in June, 
praised Fina Bank for a great achievement. “I take this opportunity to 
compliment the Board, Management and Staff of Fina Bank for this 
great achievement,” said Prof. Njuguna. 

“I note that as at April 2010, the bank commanded an impressive 
asset portfolio of KShs 13.5 billion and customer deposits of KShs 
11.5 billion, while riding on a capital base of KShs 1.3 billion. The 
Central Bank is particularly encouraged by the bank’s leading role as 
a lender in the Small and Medium Enterprise (SMEs) sector, a growth 
sector in Kenya’s economy which has been described as the ‘jewel’ 
of Kenya’s economic growth.” He added.

Fina Bank is regionally known for encouraging entrepreneurship 
with a reputation of providing proactive and personalized services 
while practicing the highest standards of integrity.  

“We are always pleased to share our financial experience and 
enable businesses grow regionally, our commitment to partnering 
with businesses ensures they succeed and our wealth of experience 
in serving customers across East Africa guarantees quality and 
satisfaction. Being the first Kenyan bank to venture into the Rwandan 
market, we have gone on to establish our presence in Uganda as 
well,” said Fina Bank’s Executive Director, Mr. Hanish Chandaria.

Fina bank Chairman Mr. dhanu Chandaria (right), Mr. steve Mainda (left) assist 
Central bank governor Prof. njuguna ndungu cut the ribbon to officially open 
Fina bank ngong Road branch.

Fina Bank - Kenya

Fina bank staff attends to a customer during Customer Focus week.
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The new branch along Ngong Road was opened with color and style 
plus customers were assured of being offered the unrivalled kind of 
banking and quality customer care service.

Meeting Customers
The Fina Bank Eldoret team was overwhelmed with joy to host more 
than 70 clients in a cocktail party that was held at the Eldoret Club 
incorporating existing and potential clients, a move that brought 
together businessmen and women in the North Rift town. 

Fina Bank Nakuru also held a similar event which was lauded as 
a wonderful channel of interaction between the bank and its 
customers. These cocktail events have gone a long way in cementing 
the relationship that the bank has with its clients. Such forums bring 
together the banks management team and staff who interacts freely 
with invited customers. 

Fina Bank Promotes Environment 
Conservation
Every holiday season brings hundreds of thousands of people from 
all over the world to the coastal city of Mombasa. Tourists come to 
take pleasure in the hospitality and warmth of the coastal people 
and enjoy memorable moments at the sandy beaches of Kenya. 

With increased numbers of people at the coast, it has become 
evident that there is increased production of garbage which if not 
well managed results to environmental pollution. 

To counter environmental pollution, Eco Ethics International Kenya, 
a Non-Governmental Organisation partnered with stakeholders in 
the hotel industry and other sectors in order to create awareness on 
proper garbage disposal and thus conserve the environment.   

Eco Ethics undertakes its initiatives across the country and currently 
in the process of creating Eco Clubs in schools to instill a sense of 
responsibilities in the youth at the same time promoting harmonious 
relationships between communities and their interaction with 
the environment. This is achieved through the principal of 
sustainability.

Fina Bank’s commitment to environmental conservation saw the 
bank partner with Eco Ethics International Kenya to sponsor the 

Chairman Mr. dhanu Chandaria and members of the board during the launch of 
ngong Road branch

Fina Bank - Kenya

Fina bank head of service delivery Mr. Michael obiero speaks during an event 
focused on cementing the relations between the bank and the clients.
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NGO’s noble initiatives and thus promotes growth and development 
at the community level.

Cocktail for Chinese Customers
At Fina Bank we highly value our relationship with customers. Hence, 
we have embraced a culture of appreciating our clients who play a 
critical part in our business growth. 

With this in mind, the bank hosted its Chinese customers to a colorful 
cocktail event at our Ngong Road branch in the month of July. Our 
management team, relationship managers and staff were at hand to 
welcome the excited Chinese clients as well as receive feedback on 
the various products and services. 

“We are the preferred regional SME and business bank with branches 
in Kenya, Uganda and Rwanda widely known for encouraging 
entrepreneurship with a reputation for providing proactive and 
personalized services while practicing the highest standards of 
integrity. Our emphasis as a group is to offer customers high quality 
products and services because they are dynamic,” said the Executive 
Director. 

To enhance communication between Fina Bank and Chinese 
customers at the cocktail, Mr. Benjamin Gasamagera of Fina Bank 
Rwanda translated Mr. Hanish’s speech fluently. Mr. Benjamin 
speaks Chinese eloquently and was a great fascination to the Chinese 
clients.

Mr. Hanish thanked the clients for finding time to attend the cocktail 
and encouraged them to continue banking with the bank. “As a bank 
that partners with you to ensure your growth and development, we 
will always be pleased to share our financial experience and equip 
you through solid business advice, offering you products and services 
that will ensure your business succeeds,” he concluded.

Through hosting such events, Fina Bank has been able to strengthen 
its relationships with its clients through interacting at a personal level. 
We also use such forums to meet clients and exchange business ideas 
that have contributed to business growth.  

The Saint Mary’s Mission Hospital
The hospital was founded by Dr. Bill in the year 2000 in Nairobi and 
expanded to Gil-Gil in 2008. The hospital has managed to position 

Fina bank executive director Mr. hanish Chandaria addresses the Chinese clients 
at a cocktail party held at the ngong Road branch.

Fina Bank - Kenya

Fisheries Minister hon. Paul otwoma was amongst the guests who came out in 
support of saving our ocean sponsored by Fina bank Mombasa branch.
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Fina bank’s head of liability and pricing Jenita Chandaria (middle) and Vina kavia 
pose for a photo with the director of st. Mary’s Mission hospital.

Fina bank Rwanda Mr. benjamin gasamagera interprets for Mr. hanish Chandaria 
during the Chinese Cocktail at the ngong Road branch

itself as low cost high quality hospital and this has seen the hospital 
grow over the approximately 11 years of operation. The growth is 
so phenomenal that the hospital 384 staff members in Nairobi and 
Elementaita attend to over 300,000 patients in annually. The hospital 
is a customer at Fina Bank since 2008.

Success in running such an organization lies on the back of a well 
motivated workforce. The Saint Mary’s Mission Hospital staff 
members are geared towards success, driven by a uniting code to 
deliver quality health care with an emphasis on people and the 
delivery of high service. 

The hospital ensures that all destitute children stay together there by 
affirming the family unit, consistency in recognizing its staff members 
on a monthly basis and invest in the teaching staff by constant 
training. It runs operations based on a new paradigm which is cost 
effective and understands that a lower cost bring with it a very high 
volume of patients.

The main drive for the learning institution is to teach the destitute 
children, after graduation they are deployed either in the hospital, 
college or other institutions of higher learning. Currently there are 
6 boys graduating into seminaries and 1 girl who is working at the 
hospital. This ensures that the investment done by the hospital is not 
lost when the children go back to their home environments.

To ensure sustainability of the programs, the hospital plants oranges 
and avocados, keeping bees, runs a small dairy, that are used to feed 
the children and others are sold in order to generate income. 

The projects are  successful despite the challenges, a key challenge 
is that some of the children are still on the street. To address this, the 
hospital is looking into building a boarding school which will provide 
care on a consistent basis and achieve higher results.

St. Mary’s Mission Hospital opened a  Dental and Eye Clinic in 2010. 
The hospital has joined hands with Catholic University of Kenya to 
open the first dental private university school in Kenya.

The hospital is partnering with the Rotary Club to set up a primary 
eye care training in the country as it also focuses on setting up a 
mission in Rwanda.

Fina Bank - Kenya
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ABC and Westlands Branch 
10th anniversary
Fina Bank is proud to announce that ABC and Westlands Branches 
are celebrating 10 years of excellence in banking and growth. 

Launched 15 years after the bank experienced success in the market, 
both branches have built and sustained reputable relationships with 
clients in the specific areas delivering outstanding banking services.

As the bank continues to build up strong regional presence, the 
branches have experienced growth as the zones they operate in are 
concentrated with businesses. 

The experienced service to customers guarantees service delivery 
skills and tailored products that are geared towards excellence.

The celebrations seek to provide events and activities that display 
appreciation to customers and employees who play a vital role in 
the bank’s success. 

golfer during the golf tournament sponsored by Fina bank at Royal Club 
nairobi.

st. Mary’s Mission hospital director comforts a patient admitted at the hospital.

Fina Bank - Kenya
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Fina Bank Top Management Interacts 
With Customers 
Relationship management is a key to success for any business. At 
Fina Bank getting closer to customers, understanding their nature of 
business and providing financial solutions is paramount. 

The branch managers, marketing department and business 
department have continued to arrange customer meetings that act 
as a platform for interaction between the CEO, business heads and 
customers. 

Overall two customers meeting were held in Mbarara and Ovino. 
Fina Bank CEO addressed more than one hundred customers on 
the banks regional presence, sound financial base and commitment 
to bring the bank closer to the people by providing quality financial 
services.

This is a continuous quarterly strategy that is carried out in all 
branches.  

Partnership with Police to Enhance 
Security 
Fina Bank engagement in communal activities has improved, built 
and sustained relationship with community leaders and clientele in 
the region. The bank recognizes the need of security and has been 
in the epitome of making sure that the community lives in a secure 
one.
 
Fina Bank partnered with the Uganda Police to sensitize people on 
security issues and boosting community policing that was introduced 
by Inspector General of Police Kale Kayihura.

In addition two fully branded police booths were donated over to 
both Jinja Road and Kiira Road Police Stations.

The DPC Kiira Road Police Station thanked Fina Bank for the great 
initiative and for improving  on the area security. He also requested 
other corporate bodies to come along.

Customer Service Month
Good customer service is the lifeline of any business and in a 
competitive industry like banking we know that being at par in terms 

Fina Bank - Uganda

Fina bank Uganda Ceo Mr. Charles nalyaali at a customers meeting held at 
ovino.

Fina bank Uganda Ceo Mr. Charles nalyaali addressing customers on importance 
and need of security in the region.
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of price and quality only gets you into the game but quality service 
wins the game. We believe that our customers are our best marketers 
and hence we always look at ways to offer the best products and 
services that will keep our clients happy who in turn will spread 
positive messages about us.  

In line with our commitment to quality customer care and service 
delivery, Fina Bank has continued to create forums that enable us to 
interact with our customers frequently.   

During one of the Customer Focus Week that we held in the year 
2010, all Fina Bank branches in Uganda conducted various successful 
events. Different activities were carried out with the aim of engaging 
both existing and potential customers and getting feedback from 
them.  

The Executive Director, Managing Director, and Managers met with 
a number of customers at different branches. 
  
This interaction has enabled Fina Bank Uganda seek out creative 
ways that help us to connect with our valued customers at a personal 
level. Each month of 2010, birthday messages were sent out to our 
clients.

Donation to Land Slide Victims 
Environmental conservation has been a key concern worldwide 
due to the constant climatic changes that result to disaster. In the 
past, the highlands of Eastern Uganda had been affected by cases of 
landslides but early 2010 was tragic leaving more than 300 people 
buried and over 30,000 displaced. 

Fina bank staff collectively launched Bududa Help Response 
Campaign, a move that enabled staff at branch level donate basic 
utilities like clothes, basins, cutleries and beddings to the victims. 

The donations were handed over to the Uganda Red Cross and 
Nation Media for effective delivery in the area. 

India Day Celebrations 
Fina Bank Uganda joined hands with the Indian community to 
celebrate the highly anticipated event on the Indian calendar.

Fina bank nakivubo staff interact with customers during the Customer service 
Month. 

Fina bank ovino branch donates food stuffs to the land slide victims through the 
help of Uganda Red Cross society.

Fina Bank - Uganda
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Every year for the past 10 years, the Indian community in Uganda 
marks India Day the day the Asian nation got its independence from 
Britain. 

For the past two years the celebration has become part of the pop 
culture attracting more than 10,000 people.

Held at Kati Kati the 2010 celebrations attracted local and Indian 
dances as well as a Bollywood Star was invited to perform in the 
ceremony. 

As part of the main sponsor Fina Bank enjoyed publicity on all 
marketing materials of the event and was recognized as a contributor 
of success to the event.

The event was organized by the Rajasthani Association in collaboration 
with the Indian Association of Uganda and supported by Fina Bank 
Uganda Limited. 

Fina Bank Shines at Banker’s Gala 2010 
For the first time Fina Bank Uganda Limited joined other banks in 
athletic competition. The games coordinated by Uganda Bankers 
Association (UBA) attracted more than 22 banks who participated in 
several categories.

The various categories were the indoor and outdoor games that were 
held on the 7th and the 29th October respectively at the Lugogo 
Indoor Stadium and the Namboole Stadium.

For the first time Fina Bank was better than other banks in pool table, 
darts and badminton. The team carried the Fina Bank brand high 
and looks forward to shine in the next gala.

India day Celebrations sponsored by Fina bank Uganda, held at kati kati grounds 
and attracted more than 10,000 people.

Fina bank esteem team contesting with stanbic bank in tag of war at the 
namboole stadium during the Uganda bankers Association (UbA) gala.

Fina Bank - Uganda
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Fina Bank Contribution To Girinka 
Programme
Fina Bank Rwanda joined hands with the Ministry of Agriculture to 
support President Paul Kagame initiative dubbed Girinka that aims 
to eradicate poverty in the country.

The Girinka which entails donating one cow per poor family is 
overseen by the Ministry of Agriculture and supported by the people 
of Rwanda, friends of the republic as well as the Public and Private 
sector and helped raise 762 cows.

During the hand over ceremony the Ministry Representative                 
Dr. Ngarambe appreciated the Managing Director Mr. Steve Caley 
on behalf of Fina Bank for the honorable attitude and encouraged 
the initiative in future as they keep on fighting poverty. 

Rwanda Cycling Team
Rwanda Cycling Federation organized the African Continental 
Cycling Championship and the second “Tour du Rwanda” held on 
17th to 25th November where more than 20 teams from Europe, 
America and Africa participated. 

As the official sponsors of Team Rwanda, Fina Bank ensured the team 
represented the country through international cycling competitions, 
bearing the national jersey branded with the bank’s logo. 

Adrien Niyonshuti claimed and maintained the yellow jersey for 
being first position in the general classification ranking of the Kigali- 
Rubavu and Rubavu-Kigali stage, but came second to T. Tesfai of 
Eritria in the Kigali-Kirongi stage.  

During the competition Fina Bank branches were branded and the 
population was happy to support as they cheered the team all through.

Fina Bank Rwanda will continue to support the Rwanda Cycling 
Team in the years to come.

Isonga Launch
Team work registered amazing success in driving the bank business 
forward. The concept of team spirit is now spreading all over the 
bank through ISONGA.

Fina Bank - Rwanda

Fina bank Rwanda joined in the girinka Programme that aims to eradicate 
poverty in the country.

“tour du Rwanda.” Fina bank the 
official sponsors of team Rwanda 
ensured the team represents the 
country through international 
cycling competition.
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ISONGA which means summit, peak or pinnacle in Kinyarwanda, 
stands for the spirit that brings individual staff together in teams 
purposefully engaging them in understanding and appreciating each 
department’s contribution towards the overall satisfaction of our 
esteemed customers and overall performance of the bank. 

ISONGA comprises of all Fina Bank staff in the region, with each team 
comprising of members from different departments and branches. 

The teams are identified by distinctive bright “colors” along with one 
group “value”, where they make up the Fina Bank Group Values. 

This arrangement creates the opportunity for staff to get to know one 
another better and work together in cohesive teams, incorporating 
activities that involve sharing departmental experiences, learning 
more about the bank and products offered, Umuganda, Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR), Sports, Debate and many more. 

ISONGA has all bank products and services offered. The first step is 
the right direction.

Fina Bank Group’s Strategy Pays 
Bank positions itself firmly as a regional player in business banking 
and lays plans to expand its footprint across the wider East Africa 
Region.

In a strategic move to position itself as the preferred regional SME 
and business bank, Fina Bank acquired BACAR Bank from the 
Government of Rwanda.  

Following a successful rebranding campaign, Fina Bank Rwanda 
was turned around by its new shareholders and is currently a top 
performing institution in the country.

This is confirmed by the fact that it was awarded the best bank in the 
financial services sector in 2009 and also received other awards. The 
award ceremony was organized by the Rwanda Development Board 
(RDB) in order to promote and support the country’s private sector. 

Vetted by Delloite and Touche, a reputable company, the audit 
focused on profitability levels, mechanisms of developing staff 
among other things.

Fina bank Chairman Mr. dhanu Chandaria and board members during the 
launch of Isonga in Rwanda.

Fina bank Rwanda donates computers to a primary school.

Fina Bank - Rwanda
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Fina Bank Rwanda visit Centre César
Centre CESAR is a Non Profit Organization which started operating 
in Kigali in 2005 with the objective of helping the Rwandan widows 
of genocide living at Kimironko and its neighboring towns. 

The NGO has helped a number of 149 families with 579 dependants 
a total of 743 people and more than 70% of them are 25 years old 
and below, helping them engage in income generating activities and 
become financial independent.

In October, Fina bank paid a visit to Centre César in order to give 
towards Internet Café set up which will add to the returns of the 
centre plus assist those families living in IMENA cell. 

After a warm traditional dance reception by the members and a 
speech by the founder Ms. Nicole Pageau, the team was given a tour 
of the centre and shown where the cyber café would be put up and 
how it would benefit them.

Finally the Founder Ms. Nicole once again thanked Fina bank for the 
initiative and the support it offers the Rwandan community

“Let’s open our heart because there are no other privileges like 
to be here on the planet and contribute your unique donation to 
humankind.”

Umuganda Day
Community service better known as Umuganda in nyarwanda is 
marked on the calendar as the last Saturday of every month and it 
runs from 8:00am to 11:00am. 

The day called Umunsi W’umuganda which means contribution 
made by the community is designed to be a day of contribution and 
building the country by citizens themselves. 

By law all able bodied persons from age of 18 years are expected 
to participate in volunteer community work. On this day, business 
activity halts, public transportation is limited, and people are seen 
everywhere working. 

People participate by cleaning streets, cutting grass, trimming bushes 
that are along roads and repairing public buildings. Fina Bank Rwanda 

Fina bank presents a cheque of Rwf. 1,076,000/- to Ms. nicole Pageau, director 
of Centre César.

Fina bank staff marking the Umuganda day in Rwanda, a day which marks 
communities contribution to build the country. 

Fina Bank - Rwanda 
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employees participates fully in Umuganda day to build community 
involvement and contribute to the growth and development of the 
Rwanda.

Banking Seminar at Nyirangarama Branch
Fina Bank hosted a banking seminar for the current and potential 
customers in Nyiragarama located in Rulindo District, Northern 
Province on October 2010.

Over 60 customers arrived and were welcomed by the master of 
ceremony and customer service representatives from the branch.

Invitees were corporate and individual customers from different 
sectors of Rulindo District, including high level district officials. Fina 
Bank moderators and organizers present were SME relationship 
managers and bank officials.

The function proved successful with numerous questions asked 
and well thought out responses given by the team. Concerns and 
suggestions from customers were also given keen attention and 
recorded for discussion with management later.

After three hours of a highly interactive seminar, invitees were treated 
to delicious refreshments and networking opportunity with staff.         
A committee for future seminars of this kind will be scheduled for 
the next quarter.

Members of the public participate in the Umuganda day.

Corporate and individual customers from different sectors of Rulindo district at 
an sMe seminar hosted by Fina bank Rwanda.

Fina Bank - Rwanda
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I joined Fina Bank in 1995 serving as a driver and I have witnessed 
it grow from a young banking organization to a bank that has 

expanded regionally today. 

The road has not been easy. I remember when I joined 16 years back 
I had to go the extra mile of not only being a driver but under take 
several duties as well.

The first six months were tough, but the staff at the bank made my 
stay worthwhile encouraging me all through and I am now reaping 
the benefits.

My job involves good time management skills, trust, accuracy and a 
lot of secrecy. Having served different managers who have different 
views to life and there specifications are different all through.

I am grateful for the opportunity. Fina Bank has made me become 
who I am today. It has exposed me to various aspects of life that have 
made me develop personally and enjoy growth. 

I see a bright future, I know that with the same pace the bank is 
growing it will move forward and achieve excellence. 

Let us be patient, trustworthy and have passion for work, and witness 
Fina Bank being the preferred regional business and SME bank. 

CHARLES LUVUGA 
Driver, Kimathi Branch, 
Fina Bank (K) Limited.

I am grateful for the opportunity to work at Fina Bank. The bank has 
made me become who I am today, exposing me to various aspects of 
life that has made me developed personally.

Staff Profile - Kenya
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Ijoined Fina Bank in June 2009 and I can say that it has been a 
journey that has offered loads of experience giving one the 

opportunity to prove their potential in delivering excellent service.  

I am currently, Manager-General Operations. The road has not been 
easy, the department is considered a big cake without boundaries 
but through the support offered by the management, the team and 
the suitable working environment, I have been able to restructure the 
Administration team as well as set up a reconciliation and validation 
team. 

On the other hand I went a step further in terms of monitoring bank 
security as well as recommending the appropriate measures.

I am happy to have been given the opportunity, I see myself as Head 
of Operations within the next five years but hoping to accomplish it 
in a span of 3 years.

I see Fina Bank growing to be the preferred regional SME and business 
bank supporting growth and development. With the structures in 
place I can confidently say that this bank will be the talk of the town 
in terms of service delivery, technology advancement as well as being 
an employer of choice.

I enjoy working in Fina Bank the environment is friendly, professional, 
and focused to serving our clientele with the highest level of integrity 
and honesty.

HELLEN NGURE
Manager-General Operations, Kimathi Branch, 
Fina Bank (K) Limited.

With the structures in place I can confidently say that this bank 
will be the talk of the town in terms of service delivery, technology 
advancement as well as being an employer of choice.

Staff Profile - Kenya
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Staff Profile - Uganda

I joined Fina bank in October 2009. This is the first bank I have 
worked with and it has provided me with wealth of experience.

It has been one year down the road and I can confidently say with my 
head held high that I am growing with the bank and it has moulded 
me into a better person. 

With the short time I have been with the bank, I can speak with 
confidence and this transformation has been an experience of a life 
time. 

I am grateful to be here, Fina Bank has provided the opportunity for 
me to be the person I am and has reshaped my career and personal 
growth. The bank has the potential for all because it personalizes on 
its own.

The growth of the bank is amazing however it has not been just a 
walk in the park. There have been some thorns in the path but it has 
been worth it.

I have stopped working towards earning a salary to working with 
an in-depth passion and looking forward to the next working day. 
I have been nurtured into a good listener, a team player and an 
understanding person.

TEDDY NANJALA
Head Teller, Industrial Area Branch, 
Fina Bank (U) Limited.

With the short time I have been with the bank, I can speak with 
confidence and this transformation has been an experience of a life 
time. 
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Staff Profile - Uganda

I f there was ever any experience in my life that I can confidently say 
has structured me into a better person, then that would definitely 

be that at Fina bank.

I will admit that it has not been a bed of roses, years filled with merry 
days nor has it been lacking the same but all that I can say is that 
every single bit has been worth it.

I joined the bank two years ago and I have grown from the young 
ambitious woman who came in with nothing but a pocket full of 
dreams and a passion for the task set before me to a mature woman 
who has learnt that experience and maturity is based on sensibility 
and intuition, paying attention and coordinating the things that 
happen to us and around us. 

Working in a fast growing bank within a fast growing economy like 
Uganda’s presents an exciting challenge. To move at the same pace 
as the economy or slower is to move too slowly, constant reinvention 
is the way to survive and Fina bank has given me the opportunity to 
do that.

The values and dynamism of the bank coupled with one of the 
best teams to ever be put together provides a right ingredient for 
growth.

PEACE ADIA
Head of Treasury, Buganda Road,
Fina Bank (U) Limited.

If there was ever any experience in my life that I can confidently say 
has structured me into a better person, then that would definitely be 
that at Fina bank
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Staff Profile - Rwanda

I have been with Fina Bank since September 2006 and 5 years down 
the line I have grown career wise, as a Manager, and a Consumer 

Banker.

I was appointed the Branch Manager of Gisenyi (Rubavu District) 
which neighbours Goma town DRC in 2009 and later transferred to 
the head office main branch as Branch Manager.

My tasks in line with bank standards include implementing retail 
strategy, developing and implementing customer service ethos, 
maintaining customer base, marketing bank products to new and 
existing customers and managing risks as well as internal controls 
affecting the branch and ensure that the necessary steps are taken to 
measure, monitor and control these risks. 

I have an outstanding ability to work with a wide range of clients 
and stakeholders and I feel happy today and proud to contribute in 
my capacity to this preferred regional SME and business bank across 
East Africa.

Our values are great and meaningful but for me the greatest is 
“Responsible to the wide community” simply because we give and 
share with those who are less privileged than us under the CSR 
policy.    

RICHARD KAREKEZI
Manager, Main Branch, 
Fina Bank (R) Limited.

Our values are great and meaningful but for me the greatest is 
“Responsible to the wide community” simply because we give and 
share with those who are less privileged than us under the CSR 
policy. 
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I joined Fina Bank as a customer care officer at head office in 2009, 
and later got promoted to Muhanga Branch as Deputy Branch 

Manager for one year.
 
Two years down the line I have found out that Fina Bank is an 
institution that takes care of career development and personal 
improvement through training and competitive rewards. 

My development from customer care officer to the position of Branch 
Manager is an indicator of career development and growth as well.

End of 2010 I was awarded the Gold Recognition Award which was 
given to the best employee in the bank based on the performance 
over the year.
 
I’m proud to be part of Fina Bank because it ensures growth and 
facilitates opportunities for people to learn. I see Fina Bank  being the 
preferred regional SME and business bank because it has continued 
to be on the forefront of ensuring customer satisfaction and growth.

INNOCENT MURWANASHYAKA
Deputy Branch Manager, Muhanga Branch,
Fina Bank (R) Limited. 

I’m proud to be part of Fina Bank because it ensures growth and 
facilitates opportunities for people to learn. I see Fina Bank  being the 
preferred regional SME and business bank because it has continued to 
be on the forefront of ensuring customer satisfaction and growth.

Staff Profile - Rwanda
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Customer Profile - Kenya

Eldoret Hides and Skins export company, based in the north rift town 
of Eldoret, Kenya. The business skills he has picked up in his 40 years 

of entrepreneurship can match the very best. Born and bred in a humble 
background at Kapsuswa in Eldoret, Mr. Karuri recalls that he was forced 
to occasionally drop out of school due to fees but by the time he cleared in 
1977 he vowed never to be poor and opted for a job as a clerk. This stoked 
an entrepreneurial vigor in him that was whetted with time, accelerated 
by loans and actualized through self determination. He recalls starting up 
business way back in 1976 while still in school where he bought a goat 
and sold slaughtered it and sold the meat earning a major profit, and at 
times he could make more than his regular salary each week, something 
that stirred him to aggressively increase his customer base. 

The business, he says, was close-knit, secretive and cartel-like. “I always 
wondered why a trader in hides and skins would advance money to the 
person slaughtering the cow. It meant the hides and skins were more 
lucrative than the meat.” Currently his company sells 150 tonnes of hides, 
skins and wool per month locally and markets in Pakistan, China and 
India. From his humble two-roomed office at the go-down in Eldoret 
town.

He pressed on, injecting more capital in renovating his premises and 
marketing but in 1998, his meat supply business went down causing him to 
turn a new leaf. He placed orders for the hides at the local slaughterhouse 
and in a month business was taking a higher gear. We believe that this is 
better business than meat supply because there is always a ready market 
for the hides. We exported the first batch of hides and skins in 2006. In 
2007, the post election violence brought out another secret to Mr. Karuri’s 
success where he took a different path in reinvention. He changed the 
branding on vehicles and source for stock in Uganda and Tanzania.

Our traditionally sources are basically from Western Nyanza, North Rift 
and parts of Central. In 2008 his business which heavily relies on the 
fortunes in global trade was severely affected by the economic downturn. 
We lost a lot of money during the recession. At around this time word 
spread that there was demand for fur in Turkey and it was incinerated 
Jerusalem.

Eldoret Hides and Skins Export Company 
KARURI MWANGI 
Proprietor

“I always wondered why a trader in hides and skins would advance 
money to the person slaughtering the cow. It meant the hides and 
skins were more lucrative than the meat.” 
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After successfully establishing foothold in Nyeri and giving the more 
recognized retail giant supermarkets a run for their money, Mr. 

Anil Jakhria chairman of Samrat Supermarkets Ltd decided to branch 
into Meru. 

We spotted space at Muthui Building along the Embu-Meru Highway 
and approached Fina Bank who stepped in to assist their own in 
financing stock. said Anil Jakhria.

Currently Samrat employs 115 people at both its branches. These 
are cashiers, cleaners, shelf attendants and security officers. It has not 
been easy especially with the Meru branch, we are the newest entrants 
in a market dominated by the big boys but with a good strategy of 
competitive pricing and quality customer service.

When he opened the store, Mr. Anil focus was on stocking genuine 
products, unparalleled customer service and impeccable reputation 
driven by competitive pricing.

Reputation in business is everything. Since we opened our Meru 
branch, our competitors have been forced to reduce their prices. 
“Fina Bank products are flexible. I particularly like the fact that you 
can negotiate with them, case-by-case basis. They don’t close doors 
on entrepreneurs. The loan approval process is also quick and hassle-
free,” says Mr. Anil. Though supermarket business is always a multi-
million undertaking, by virtue of stock-in-place and size of stores, 
profit is often measured in collective cents. For instance 

It’s the volume of goods sold that spells the difference between success 
and failure. Repeat customers are therefore, equally as important as 
first time customers. “To run a retail store successfully, you’ve to count 
every coin because every coin counts,” says Mr Anil.   

Currently, Samrat is making plans for a new Ksh8 million in Ukunda, 
South Coast.

Samrat Supermarkets Ltd

Since we opened our Meru Branch, our competitors have been forced 
to reduce their prices. “Fina Bank products are flexible. I particularly 
like the fact that you can negotiate with them, case-by-case basis.

Agent at the Customer service desk at samrat supermarkets limited (Meru).

Customer Profile - Kenya
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An attendant serving a client at Munjowa general Merchant (eldoret).

Working as an accountant at Pan Paper Mills in the 1990s, Pius Mwaniki 
was not content with his salary and he tried entrepreneurship a decision 

that later saw him quit employment for good. My brother-in-law gave me a 
half an acre piece of land, which I tilled and harvested six bags of maize and it 
gave me profits that were worth more my monthly income. Later I re-invested 
the income and I harvested 16 bags and later a clear 30 acres. From his maize 
sales and borrowing from his employer’s Sacco. Mr. Mwaniki bought a small 
truck for trade in the agricultural-rich Eldoret area, one afternoon after an 
assignment, he submitted his resignation and ventured into the murky world of 
business full time. “But I wasn’t going into maize farming.” He sold the truck, 
cleared the loan balance and left with enough capital to start a business.

Though he lacked clarity on what exactly he wanted to do he had still made 
up his mind that he was getting out of employment in order to start doing what 
he had a passion for. In addition, he chose to narrow down on a fast moving 
consumer commodity that did not have a sell date. Out of curiosity, Mr. 
Mwaniki visited several hardware stores in Eldoret town and established the 
cost of decorative and automotive paints. He then called up several suppliers 
and realized that there were decent margins to be made.He resolved that 
the paint business is the direction he aimed to take because paint is the only 
product that is not perishable and can stay in the store for over a year without 
losing its quality or value.

Mr. Mwaniki registered the enterprise under General Merchants in Eldoret 
town on the 6th of March 2004 and currently has employed three full 
time employees and boasts some notable clients such as the Moi Barracks 
and Eldoret Bullet Factory. He has also rented two stores within St. Rehema 
Complex for his machines and stock. Mr. Mwaniki is keen to note that a good 
relationship with his bank and suppliers have been the corner stone of his 
success. Three years later, he transferred his business account Fina Bank to the 
Eldoret branch, who assumed the responsibility of processing a loan to boost 
his business. This boosted his market position and he is now among the top five 
wholesale and retail paint sellers in the town.  Recently the business received 
a package in order to purchase a state-of-the-art paint-mixing machine. This 
unflagging faith in his business saw him return a profit even in 2007/08, when 
majority of businesses in Eldoret town and the larger Rift Valley were reeling 
from the effects of post-election violence.

He believes that as an entrepreneur, one must have a good track record with 
the bank, regardless of the business circumstances.

Munjowa General Merchants 

As an entrepreneur, one must have a good track record with the bank, 
regardless of the business circumstances.

Customer Profile - Kenya
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When Fina Bank moved into Nakivubo, I thought it was like 
other banks within the building whose interests were based 

on deposits rather than solving financial needs.

That was not the case, I was impressed when an officer took interest 
in my business and requested time to share on how the bank could 
partner with me, so I opted to first start with a savings account and 
later changed to business after satisfactory service.

Fina Bank took time to understand my business, advancing my 
overdrafts that empowered me to purchase more stock and making 
it easy to transfer money to my suppliers in Kenya, Dubai and China 
through the bank.

I would like to see increase in branch networks while maintaining 
the high standards of customer service that Fina Bank provides.

Ssekanya Musoke General Hardware
SSEKANYA MUSOKE
Managing Director

I was impressed when an officer took interest in my business and 
requested time to share on how the bank could partner with me.

Customer Profile - Uganda
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Customer Profile - Uganda

In my business survival is maintained by ensuring that you have 
quality products of the latest design, therefore one needs a bank 

that understands and appreciates the business being in a position to 
solve their financial needs.

I was impressed by the friendly personnel with outstanding customer 
care skills and relationship officers who took time to build and sustain 
a healthy partnership with my business assisting in the fast processing 
of loan application.

Fina Bank has enabled me to expand my product base and has 
brought a new wave in the banking industry; the extended hours are 
a big relief for traders like me who are able to bank after 5:00pm. 

I have banked with Fina Bank for almost one year and my relationship 
and business are both growing stronger. 

Office and Home Furniture
MASSY KASIRYE
Proprietor

Fina Bank has enabled me to expand my product base and has 
brought a new wave in the banking industry;
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Customer Profile - Uganda

My business provides cleaning services to corporate companies 
something that made it hard for me in the past approach big 

companies for business because they required specific machines 
that were costly.

Thanks to Fina Bank my business has grown from servicing 1 to 5 
corporate clients a number that I am confident will grow by the end 
of the year.

I was initially attracted to Fina’s spacious, modern banking halls and 
later discovered that the services were fast due to adequate staff. 

My business is where it is because of Fina Bank, I am able to get 
credit facilities in the shortest time possible, my relationship officer 
has always had faith in me making it faster and easier for me to 
access financial support in good time something that I term as real 
customer satisfaction.

Fina Bank’s regional presence is a blessing, it is easier to transact 
business with my clients in Rwanda and Kenya, luckily enough they 
hold accounts with Fina Bank in the respective countries.

KADS Agency 
LULE DANIEL 
Managing Director

Thanks to Fina Bank my business has grown from servicing 1 to 5 
corporate clients a number that I am confident will grow by the end 
of the year.
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Customer Profile - Rwanda

I worked for over ten years in book-producing and metalworking 
enterprises before I started my own company (ABEM) located at 

Kicukiro.

ABEM started with a single timber machine and a welding machine, 
but now has a fleet of machines that can respond to various 
manufacturing works and maintenance for large businesses as well 
as Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs).

Fina Bank has played a very important role during the past three years 
in increasing our company’s financial and technical capacities. The 
facilities for short and long term loans and the Fina Bank products 
that are regularly updated to meet the needs of its customers are 
very eye-catching for SMEs like ours.

Here are two noteworthy services that you will not easily find in 
other banks: customized client account management and a warm 
welcome by its staff to customers.

The outcome is that the economic operators in SMEs are in family
relationship with Fina Bank that charily listens to all its clients. 

A small business can become a large one with the support of Fina 
Bank because they listen to the customers and provide tailor made 
products.

(ABEM) 
NARCISSE KAYIHURA
Proprietor

The facilities for short and long term loans and the Fina Bank products 
that are regularly updated to meet the needs of its customers are very 
eye-catching for SMEs like ours.
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Kigali Traders sarl is a Rwandan exclusive representative of Kenpoly 
Ltd products, a Kenyan factory which produces various plastic 

materials. 

We also import different clothes from China and Dubai. I was 
looking for a partner who would assist my business to grow and be 
competitive in the market. With that effect I joined Fina Bank in 
2004. In 2005 I benefited a mortgage loan which I managed to clear 
successfully in 2007. 

Fina Bank has tailored my benefits and operate my account through 
trust basis. This has been reflected by numerous overdrafts for 
required to clear custom duties.

In June 2008, Fina Bank granted my business a mortgage loan to 
build a commercial building at Muhima, Kigali. The building has 
attracted many tenants and has already started operations.

I want to thank Fina Bank for the continued support and their 
exceptional service that they direct to their customers.

DANIEL KABUREMBO
Business owner

I want to thank Fina Bank for the continued support and their 
exceptional service that they direct to their customers.

Customer Profile - Rwanda
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Corporate Information

 RegIsteRed oFFICe

 LR. Plot No. 209/X11/624
 FINA House, Kimathi Street
 P O Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200

 AUdItoR

 Pricewaterhouse Coopers
 Certified Public Accountants of Kenya
 The Rahimtulla Tower
 Upper Hill Road
 P O Box 43963, Nairobi - 00100

 PRInCIPAl legAl AdVIseRs

 Hamilton Harrison & Mathews
 ICEA Building, Kenyatta Avenue
 P O Box 30333, Nairobi - 00100

 Iseme Kamau and Maema
 IKM House, 5th Ngong Avenue
 P O Box 11866, Nairobi - 00400

 Shah & Shah
 Standard Chambers, Kimathi Street
 P O Box 45839, Nairobi - 00100

 Walker Kontos
 Hakika House, Bishop Road
 P O Box 60680, Nairobi - 00200

 CoRResPondent bAnks

 Kenya Shilling (KShs)
 Kenya Commercial Bank Limited, Nairobi
 Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited, Nairobi

 South African Rand (ZAR)
 Standard Bank of SA Limited, Johannesburg
 ABSA Bank Limited, Johannesburg

 British Pound (GBP)
 Citibank NA, London

 Euro (EUR)
 Deutsche Bank, Frankfurt

 US Dollar (USD) in United States of America
 Standard Chartered Bank, New York
 
 Indian Rupee (INR) in India
 ICICI Bank Limited, Mumbai

 Australian Dollar (AUD) in Australia
 Commonwealth Bank of Australia, Sydney



44 C e l e b R A t I n g  2 5  y e A R s  o F  b A n k I n g  e x C e l l e n C e  A n d  g R o w t h

 dIReCtoRs

 Mr. Dhanu Chandaria* Chairman
 Mr. Hanish Chandaria* Executive Director  
 Mr. Nalinkumar Shah Non Executive Director 
 Mr. Rameshkumar Patel Non Executive Director
 Mr. Macharia Njeru Non Executive Director
 Mr. Steve Mainda, EBS Non Executive Director

 * British

  CoMPAny seCRetARy

 Mr. Nalikumar Shah 
 Certified Public Secretaries (Kenya), FCCA, CPA (K)
 P.O. Box 49874, Nairobi - 00100

  exeCUtIVe CoMMIttee

 Mr. Hanish Chandaria Executive Director
 Mr. Alex Mbatha Head Finance Manager
 Ms. Josephine Mutunga Head of Risk
 Mr. Villupuram Abiraman Head of Treasury
 Mr. Pankaj Kansara Head of Business Performance
 Mr. Michael Obiero Head of Service Delivery
 Mr. Louis Niyongabo Group Head of IT

  boARd CRedIt CoMMIttee

 Mr. Steve Mainda, EBS Chairman
 Mr. Dhanu Chandaria
 Mr. Nalinkumar Shah
 Mr. Rameshkumar Patel
 
 boARd RIsk MAnAgeMent CoMMIttee

 Mr. Macharia Njeru Chairman
 Mr. Steve Mainda, EBS 
 Mr. Rameshkumar Patel

boARd hR CoMMIttee

 Mr. Macharia Njeru Chairman
 Mr. Dhanu Chandaria
 Mr. Nalinkumar Shah

 otheR oFFICeRs

 Mr. Norris Digo Regional Business Manager
 Mr. Bhaskar Kalyanaraman Head of Credit
 Mr. Atanas Mwilu Head of Central Operations 
 Ms. Ndila Mulinge Legal Manager
 Mr. Charles Amanga Compliance Manager
 Mr. Dipan Shah Head of Audit 
 Ms. Bernadette Ngara Head of Marketing
 Ms. Jenita Chandaria Head of Liability & Pricing
 Ms. Damaris Liliech Manager Learning & Development
 Mr. Jay Patel Head of Projects
 Mr. Andrew Mwangi Head of IT
   
  boARd AUdIt CoMMIttee

 Mr. Nalinkumar Shah Chairman
 Mr. Steve Mainda, EBS
 Mr. Harilal Nathwani

  boARd Assets And lIAbIlItIes CoMMIttee

 Mr. Rameshkumar Patel Chairman
 Mr. Macharia Njeru
 Mr. Nalinkumar Shah

Corporate Information*

*As at 1st May 2011



F I n A  b A n k  2 0 1 0  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  &  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T 45

Corporate Information

bRAnChes - RwAndA

kigali City branch
20 Bld de la Revolution 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 598600
Fax: +250 (0) 252 573486
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

Remera branch
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 580551/2
Fax: +250 (0) 252 580045 
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

Muhanga branch (ex gitarama)
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 562798 
Fax: +250 (0) 252 562796
E-mail: Info@finabank.co.rw

ngoma branch (ex kibungo)
P O Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 566393
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

karongi branch (ex kibuye)
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 568305
Fax: +250 (0) 252 568203
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

Musanze branch (ex Ruhengeri)
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 546305
Fax: +250 (0) 252 547106
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

Rubavu branch (ex gisenyi)
Rue de l`Aeroport , Rubavu 
P. O. Box 331,Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 566393
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

nyirangama branch
P. O. Box 331 - Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 546305
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394

Ruhango branch
P. O. Box 331 - Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 562798
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394

nyabugogo branch
P. O. Box 331 - Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 598601
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394

bRAnChes - UgAndA

Fina bank (Uganda) ltd
Plot 7 Buganda Road
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala
Tel: +256 414 237284/ 237305
Fax: +256 414 237305
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

Industrial Area branch
Plot 13 Mulwana road 
P. O. Box 7323,Kampala
Tel:+256 (0) 414 341374
Fax:+256 (0) 414 237305
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

nakivubo Road branch
Fina Bank (Uganda) Ltd
Plot 34/38 Nakivubo Rd
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala
Tel : +256 (0) 414 233812/813 
Fax:+256 (0) 414 237305
E-mail: nakivubo@finabank.co.ug

Mbarara branch
Plot 52/54 High Street
P. O. Box 242 Mbarara
Tel: +256 (0) 485 421255/246
Fax:+256 (0) 414 237305
E-mail: mbarara@finabank.co.ug

ovino branch
Plot 22 Kisenyi Road
P. O. Box 7323, Kampala
Tel: +256 (0) 414 250766
Fax:+256 (0) 414 237305 
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

kyaliwajjala branch
Plot 31 Kyaliwajjala, Namugongo Road
P. O. Box 7323, Kampala
Tel: +256 (0) 43 4660647/ 4660485
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

www.finabank.com

 bRAnChes - kenyA

 head office
 FINA House, Kimathi Street
 P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200
 Tel: +254 20 3284000
 Fax: +254 20 247164
 E-mail: banking@finabank.com
 Website:  www.finabank.com
 Swift: FBAKKENA

 kimathi branch
 FINA House, Kimathi Street
 P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200
 Tel: +254 20 3284000
 Fax: +254 20 2229696
 E-mail: kimathi@finabank.com
 
 Industrial Area branch
 Enterprise/Bamburi Road
 P. O. Box 18647, Nairobi - 00500
 Tel: +254 20 552692
 Fax: +254 20 652454
 E-mail: indarea@finabank.com

 westlands branch
 Apic Centre, Parklands Ring Road
 P. O. Box 13896, Nairobi - 00800
 Tel: +254 20 3744138
 Fax: +254 20 3748895
 E-mail: westlands@finabank.com

 lavington branch
 ABC Place, Waiyaki Way
 P O Box 14309, Nairobi - 00800
 Tel/Fax: +254 20 4440755
 E-mail: lavington@finabank.com

 Muthaiga branch
 Sharp Building
 Wambui Rd, off Thika Highway
 P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200
 Tel: +254 20 3740312
 Fax: +254 20 3743369
 E-mail: muthaiga@finabank.com

 gikomba branch
 Kensta Metal Building
 New Pumwani Road
 P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200
 Tel: +254 20 6768515
 Fax: +254 20 6768516
 E-mail: gikomba@finabank.com

ngong Road branch
Piedmont Plaza, Ngong Road
P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200 
Tel: +254 20 3861563
E-mail: ngongroad@finabank.com

thika branch
Kigio Plaza, 
Kwame Nkrumah Street
P. O. Box 4103, Thika - 01002
Tel: +254 (0) 67 20186
Fax: +254 (0) 67 20193
E-mail: thika@finabank.com

Mombasa branch
Ambalal House, Nkrumah Road 
P. O. Box 90089, Mombasa – 80100
Tel: +254 41 2225852
Fax: +254 41 2229559
E-mail: mombasa@finabank.com

eldoret branch
Charotar Patel Plaza (2000)
P. O. Box 8371, Eldoret - 30100
Tel: +254 (0) 53 2030922
Fax: +254 (0) 53 2030925
E-mail: eldoret@finabank.com

nakuru branch
Giddo Plaza
P. O. BOX 12366, Nakuru - 20100
Tel: +254 (0) 51 2213655
Fax: +254 (0) 51 2213599
E-mail: nakuru@finabank.com

nanyuki branch
Kenyatta Street, Nanyuki
P. O. Box 1715, Nanyuki - 10400
Tel: +254 (0) 62 32113
Fax: +254 (0) 62 32826
E-mail: nanyuki@finabank.com

Meru branch
Alexander Building, Ghana Road
P. O. Box 1733, Meru - 60200
Tel: +254 (0) 64 64148 / 150 / 137 / 
139 / 135
Fax: +254 (0) 64 30218
E-mail: meru@finabank.com
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hAnIsh ChAndARIA
Executive Director

RAMeshkUMAR PAtel
Non-Executive Director

steVe MAIndA, ebs
Non-Executive Director

Board of Directors - Kenya

l - R
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MAChARIA nJeRU
Non-Executive Director

nAlInkUMAR shAh
Company Secretary

dhAnU ChAndARIA
Chairman
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Management Team - Kenya

seAted l - R

ndIlA MUlInge
Legal Manager

bhAskAR kAlyAnARAMAn
Head of Credit

VIllUPURAM AbIRAMAn
Head of Treasury

beRnAdette ngARA
Head of Marketing

Alex MbAthA
Head of Finance
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stAndIng l - R

JosePhIne MUtUngA
Head of Risk 

hAnIsh ChAndARIA
Executive Director

noRRIs dIgo
Regional Business Manager

MIChAel obIeRo
Head of Service Delivery 

JenItA ChAndARIA
Head of Liability and Pricing

dIPAn shAh
Head of Audit

loUIs nIyongAbo
Group Head of IT

dAMARIs lIlIeCh
Manager Learning & 
Development

PAnkARJ kAnsARA
Head of Business 
Perfomance
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Board of Directors - Uganda

dhAnU ChAndARIA
Acting Chairman

RAMesh bAbU
Non-Executive Director

ChARles nAlyAAlI
Chief Executive Officer

MAChARIA nJeRU
Non-Executive Director

hIgIRI seMAJege 
Non-Executive Director

PAnkAJ shARMA
Executive Director

IRene MUtUMbA
Non-Executive Director

hAnIsh ChAndARIA
Non-Executive Director

l - R
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Management Team - Uganda

PeACe AdIA,
Head of Treasury

Moses bwAnA 
Head of IT  

stAnley kAtwAzA
Head of Audit 

Anne IRUMbA
Head of Central Operations

lAwRenCe ssentongo
Head of Business SME

ChARles nAlyAAlI
Ceo Head Office

geoFFRey kAsIRye
Head of Credit

ChARles okURUt
Head of HR

PAnkAJ shARMA
Executive Director

stAndIng l - RseAted l - R
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Board of Directors - Rwanda

dhAnU ChAndARIA
Non-Executive Director

geRAld MPyIsI 
Non-Executive Director

CelestIne kAyItARe 
Non-Executive Director 

RAo bAlIVAdA
Managing Director

kAMPetA PItChette 
sAyInzogA
Non-Executive Director 

MAChARIA nJeRU
Chairman

kenneth AgAbA
Executive Director

benJAMIn gAsAMAgeRA
Non-Executive Director
 
MR. hAnIsh ChAndARIA
Non-Executive Director

l - R
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Management Team - Rwanda

lInA MUkAshyAkA
Manager, SME

wIlly kAnAMUgIRe
Manager, Credit

sAndRA CyAMwenshI
Head of Legal

RIChARd ngAbonzIzA
Head of Treasury

kenneth AgAbA
Executive Director

odette RwUbUzIzI
Manager, HR

RAo bAlIVAdA
Managing Director

MUMARARUngU AIMAble
Head of Risk

AnItA UMUhIRe
Head of Finance

geRMAIne MUkAMUsAnA
Head of Operations

eUgene MUlIgAnde
Head of Consumer Banking

gIRAso IMACUlee
Manager, Compliance

IngAbIRe ChAntAl
Manager, Audit

l - R



54 C e l e b R A t I n g  2 5  y e A R s  o F  b A n k I n g  e x C e l l e n C e  A n d  g R o w t h

0

50

100

150

200

250

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

M
IL

LI
O

N
S

0
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

M
IL

LI
O

N
S

0
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

M
IL

LI
O

N
S

0
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

16000

18000

Deposit
M

IL
LI

O
N

S
Advances

Profit Before Tax Total Assets

Shareholders' Funds Advances And Deposits Over Five Years

Financial Highlights



55F I n A  b A n k  2 0 1 0  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  &  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

Distribution of Assets

Loans and Advances
to Customers

2%

49%33%

9%
3%

4%

Deposit and Balances
Due From Other Banks

Government Securitites

Cash and Central Bank Balances Property and Equipment 

Other Assets

Liabilities, Shareholders and
Equity Composition
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10%

81%
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Shareholders' Equity

Deposit From
Other Banks

Distribution of Operating Income
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9%

21%

66%
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2010 12%
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2009

Financial Highlights
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Fina Bank is committed to adhering to the highest standards of good corporate governance at all levels of its operations. This commitment is 
rooted to our core values and beliefs. We have put in place elaborate governance processes which comply with industry best practice. 

Board charter and work plan
The Board’s responsibilities are set out in the Board Charter. The Board Charter contains provisions which ensure that the Board observes best 
practice in corporate governance and contains among other things policies on: the size, role and functions of the Board; appointments and 
induction of directors; board performance evaluation; and remuneration of directors.

The work plan has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for the Board’s attention to ensure it exercises full control over all 
significant matters. It sets out the schedule of meetings of the Board and its committees and the main business to be dealt with at those 
meetings. Additional meetings are scheduled as and when necessary.

Board composition and appointments
The Board currently consists of;

	 Chairman     1
	 Executive Director    1
	 Non-Executive Directors   4

The Non-Executive Directors are drawn from a wide range of business and other backgrounds. This diversity is considered by the members 
as one of the strengths of the Board.

The Board evaluates the performance of the management in order to be satisfied as to the integrity and strength of financial information, 
controls and risk management. Through the Board Human Resource Committee, they have a prime role in appointing, removing and succession 
planning of senior management and, responsible for determining appropriate levels of remuneration for the executive directors and senior 
management.

All directors receive regular and timely information about the Bank prior to Board meetings. They also have access to the Company Secretary 
for any further information they may require.  

Board meetings
The full Board meets at least four times a year.  In addition, the Board meets with senior executives within the Bank and Group for a two day 
off-site meeting once a year for the purposes of considering and approving the Group’s strategy. The Board deals with all significant matters 
including strategic direction for the Bank and Group; ensuring competent management of the business; internal control; compliance with laws 
and regulations and reporting performance to shareholders.

Corporate Governance Statement
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Attendance at meetings
The attendance of directors at board and at meetings of the Audit, Risk, Assets and Liabilities (ALCO), Human Resources and Credit committees 
during 2010 is detailed below:  
 
   Board Audit  Risk  ALCO  Credit  HR
 Number of meetings during the year 5 7 4 4 17    4
 D. H. Chandaria 100% - - - 82% 100%
 R. F. Binyon(Resigned January 2011) 100% - 100% 100% - 100%
 R. M. Patel 100% - - - 76% -
 M. Njeru 100% - 100% 100% - 100%
 N. N. Shah 100% 100% 100% 100% 94% 100%
 S. O. Mainda EBS  100% 100% - - 100% -
 H. Nathwani (consultant) - 100% - - - -
 
 
The directors are given appropriate and timely information on key activities of the business in order to carry out their roles. Specifically 
the directors are provided with supporting papers and relevant information for each meeting and are expected to attend, unless there are 
exceptional circumstances that prevent them from doing so. They may also seek independent professional advice, at the Bank’s expense, 
concerning the affairs of the Bank and Group in consultation with the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

The Board annually conducts self and peer performance evaluation. The results are used to improve the Board’s performance. At least once a 
year, the Board meets without the presence of the Executive Director. 

Separation of roles and responsibilities 
The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate. The Chairman’s main responsibility is to lead and manage the work 
of the Board to ensure that it operates effectively and fully discharges its legal and regulatory responsibilities. The Board has delegated the 
responsibility for the day-to-day management of the Bank and Group to the Chief Executive Officer, who is responsible for recommending 
strategy to the Board, and for making and implementing operational decisions.  

The Board has a collective responsibility for the success of the Bank and Group.  However, the Executive Director has direct responsibility for 
business operations, whereas Non Executive Directors are responsible for bringing independent judgment and scrutiny to decisions taken by 
the Management, providing objective challenge to the management.

Committees of the Board
In order for the Board to carry out its functions, and to ensure independent oversight of internal control and risk management, certain aspects 
of its role are delegated to Board Committees, whose members are Non-Executive Directors. The specific matters for which delegated 
authority has been given are set out in each Board Committee’s terms of reference, which are reviewed annually.

The Board had delegated authority to five principal Board Committees:
	 Board Audit Committee
	 Board Credit Committee
	 Board Risk Committee

Corporate Governance Statement
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	 Board Assets and Liabilities Committee
	 Board Human Resources Committee

These committees meet at least on a quarterly basis or whenever there are urgent matters to attend to.

In addition, the Executive Committee, comprising the Chief Executive Officer and his senior management meet on a monthly basis. Its main 
function is to implement and monitor the Bank’s and Group’s strategy, operational plans and financial performance. It is also responsible for 
the assessment and control of risk.

Internal control and risk management

Internal control
The directors are responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the Bank’s system of internal control, including internal financial control. This 
is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding (a) the safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or disposition 
and (b) the maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability of financial information used within the business or for publication. 
These controls are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives due to circumstances which may 
reasonably be foreseen and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Internal control framework
Effective corporate governance remains key to the business. The Bank continues to review its internal control framework to ensure it 
maintains a strong and effective internal control environment. The effectiveness of the framework has been under regular review by the senior 
management.

Risk management
The Bank has a structure and process to help identify, assess and manage risks. This process has been in place throughout the year.

 

Corporate Governance Statement
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The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010, which disclose the 
state of affairs of the group and the company.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Group are provision of banking and related services. 

Results and Dividend
The net profit after tax for the year of Shs 134 million (2009: Shs 109 million) has been added to retained earnings. The directors do not 
recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the year (2009: nil).

Directors
The directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report were:

 Mr. D. H. Chandaria*  - Chairman
 Mr. H. D. Chandaria* -  Executive Director 
 Mr. N. N. Shah -  Non Executive Director
 Mr. R. M Patel -  Non Executive Director
 Mr. M. Njeru -  Non Executive Director
 Mr. R. F. Binyon* -  Non Executive Director (Resigned January 2011)
 Mr. S. O. Mainda (EBS) -  Non Executive Director

 *British

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers has indicated its willingness to continue in office in accordance with the provisions of Section 159(2) of the Companies 
Act and Section 24(1) of the Banking Act.

by order of the board

SECRETARY
March 29, 2011

Report of the Directors
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The Companies Act requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the group and the company as at the end of the financial year and of the operating results of the group for that year. It also requires 
the directors to ensure that the group and the company keep proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the group and the company. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group.

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies, and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The directors accept responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been prepared using appropriate accounting policies 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the 
manner required by the Companies Act. The directors are of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of 
the financial affairs of the group and the company and of its operating results. The directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance 
of accounting records which may be relied upon in the preparation of financial statements, as well as adequate systems of internal financial 
control.

Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that the company and its subsidiaries will not remain a going concern for at least 
the next twelve months from the date of this statement.

----------------------------------------
Director 

-----------------------------------------
Director 

March 29, 2011

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
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Report on the consolidated financial statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Fina Bank Limited (the company) and its subsidiaries (together, the 
group), as set out on pages 64 to 124. These financial statements comprise the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 
2010, the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, together with the statement of financial position of the Bank standing alone as at 31 December 2010 and the statement of changes 
in equity of the bank for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and with the requirements of the Kenyan Companies Act and for such internal control, as the directors determine 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform our audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the bank’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Opinion
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the financial affairs of the group and of the bank at 
31 December 2010 and of the profit and cash flows of the group for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the Kenyan Companies Act.
 

Report on other legal requirements 
The Kenyan Companies Act requires that in carrying out our audit we consider and report to you on the following matters. We confirm that:
 i) we have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes  
  of our audit;
 ii) in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the company, so far as appears from our examination of those books;
 iii) the bank’s statement of financial position and income statement are in agreement with the books of account.

        Certified Public Accountants                              March 31,2011
        Nairobi

Report of the Independent Auditor to the Members of 
Fina Bank Limited
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    2010 2009 
   notes shs’000 shs’000 
     
 Interest income 5 2,100,652 1,814,273 
 Interest expense 6 (948,880) (845,705)
      
 Net interest income  1,151,772 968,568 
      
 Fees and commission income  452,796 327,516 
 Fees and commission expense                                                  (14,316) (11,620)
       
 Net fee and commission income  438,480 315,896 
      
 Foreign exchange income  141,676 126,814 
 Other operating income  236,368 58,356 
 Impairment losses on loans and advances 14 (350,502) (147,459)
 Operating expenses 7 (1,391,327) (1,148,233)
 Share of loss of associate 15(b) - (13,763)
     
 Profit before income tax  226,467 160,179 
     
 Income tax expense 9 (92,394) (50,753)
     
 Profit for the year  134,073 109,426
 (of which Shs 133.5 million (2009: Shs 16.5 million)
 has been dealt with in the accounts of the company)

 Attributed to:
 Equity holders of the Company         133,828 62,267 
 Non controlling Interest  245 47,159 

    134,073 109,426 
     
 Earnings per share attributable to the equity holders of the Company     
 Basic and diluted (Shs per share) 10 253.46 117.93 
     

Consolidated Income Statement
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 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

    2010 2009
    shs’000 shs’000
     
 Profit for the year  134,073 109,426 
     
 Other comprehensive income:     
 Items net of tax    
 Gains on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets
 Currency translation differences (Note 28)  4,110 10,671
 Currency translation differences  20,605 (35,591) 
     
 Other comprehensive income net of tax  24,715           (24,920)
      
 Total comprehensive income for the year  158,788 84,506
     
 Attributable to:    
 Equity holders of the Company  150,319 53,086
 Non controlling interest  8,469 31,420
     
 Total comprehensive income for the year  158,788 84,506
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

    2010 2009
   notes shs’000 shs’000
 Assets     
 Cash and balances with Central Banks 11 1,915,445 1,117,158
 Government and other securities held to maturity  12(a) 5,140,348 4,051,189
 Government and other securities available for sale 12(b) 1,837,772 1,559,881
 Deposits and balances due from other banks 13 852,713 1,238,693
 Loans and advances to customers (net) 14 10,165,285 9,291,539
 Current income tax recoverable  - 22,537
 Property and equipment 16 578,500 541,324
 Intangible assets-software 18 49,642 53,811
 Deferred income tax 19 6,257 52,915
 Other assets 20 376,159 380,391
 Intangible assets - goodwill 21 21,812 21,812

 totAl Assets  20,943,933 18,331,250

 lIAbIlItIes    
 Customer deposits  22 16,888,926 14,738,232
 Deposits due to other banks 23 1,291,392 1,194,199
 Borrowings 24 422,156 307,308
 Deferred income tax 19 - 1,264
 Current income tax payable  20,147 -
 Other liabilities 25 297,334 225,059  

 totAl lIAbIlItIes  18,919,955 16,466,062 

 CAPItAl And ReseRVes AttRIbUtAble to the CoMPAny’s eQUIty holdeRs    
 Share capital 26 528,308 528,308
 Share premium                                                                       26 154,922 154,922
 Regulatory reserve 27 30,162 65,280
 Other reserves 28 36,134 19,643
 Retained earnings  885,152 632,991

    1,634,678 1,401,144
 Non controlling interest  389,300 464,044

 Total  equity  2,023,978 1,865,188  

 totAl lIAbIlItIes And shAReholdeRs’ eQUIty  20,943,933 18,331,250

The financial statements on pages 64 to 124 were approved by the board of directors’ on 29th March 2011 and were signed on its behalf by:

___________________Director ___________________Director ___________________Director ___________________ Company
                           Secretary
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 Bank Statement of Financial Position

    2010 2009
   notes shs’000 shs’000
 Assets     
 Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 11 898,529 792,107
 Government and other securities held to maturity 12(a) 3,550,635 3,094,984
 Government and other securities available for sale 12(b) 1,837,772 1,559,881
 Deposits and balances due from other banks 13 391,040 282,731
 Amounts due from group companies 31 9,112 5,208
 Loans and advances to customers (net) 14 6,718,235 5,937,140
 Current income tax recoverable  - 22,537
 Investment in subsidiary 15(a) 164,039 164,039
 Investment in associate 15(b) 31,123 31,123
 Property and equipment 16(b) 219,281 228,371
 Intangible assets - software 18 11,170 3,542
 Deffered Income Tax 19 4,436 -
 Other assets 20 276,993 157,015

 totAl Assets  14,112,365 12,278,678

 lIAbIlItIes     
 Customer deposits  22 11,590,423 9,985,823
 Deposits due to other banks 23 624,930 663,306
 Borrowings 24 422,156 307,308
 Deferred income tax 19 - 1,264
 Current  income tax payable  13,222 -
 Other liabilities 25 125,511 122,484  

 totAl lIAbIlItIes  12,776,242 11,080,185

 shAReholdeRs’ eQUIty 
 Share capital 26 528,308 528,308
 Share premium 26 154,922 154,922
 Regulatory reserve 27 4,787 41,414
 Revaluation Reserves 28 14,781 10,671
 Retained Earnings  633,325 463,178

 totAl shAReholdeRs’ eQUIty  1,336,123 1,198,493 

 totAl lIAbIlItIes And shAReholdeRs’ eQUIty  14,112,365 12,278,678
       
The financial statements on pages 64 to 124 were approved by the board of directors’ on 29th March 2011 and were signed on its behalf by:

___________________Director ___________________Director ___________________Director ___________________ Company
                           Secretary
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

   share share Retained Regulatory other non total
   Capital  Premium earnings Reserves Reserves Controlling   
        Interest 
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

 Year ended 31 December 2009       
 At start of year 528,308 154,922 572,846 63,158 28,824      432,624 1,780,682
       
 total comprehensive income for the year       
 Profit for the year - - 62,267 - - 47,159 109,426
       
 Other comprehensive income:        
       
 Available-for-sale financial assets net of tax - - - - 10,671 - 10,671
 Currency translation differences - - - - (19,852) (15,739) (35,591)
 Transfer to regulatory reserves - - (2,122) 2,122 - - -
       

 Total other comprehensive income   (2,122) 2,122 (9,181) (15,739) (24,920)

 total comprehensive income for the year - - 60,145 2,122 (9,181) 31,420 84,506
  
 At end of year  528,308 154,922 632,991 65,280 19,643      464,044 1,865,188
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

    share share Retained Regulatory other non total
   Capital  Premium earnings Reserves Reserves Controlling   
        Interest 
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

 Year ended 31 December 2010       
 At start of year 528,308 154,922 632,991 65,280 19,643     464,044 1,865,188
       
 total comprehensive income for the year       
 Profit for the year   133,828   245 134,073
       
 Other comprehensive income:        
       
 Available-for-sale financial assets net of tax - - - - 4,110 - 4,110
 Currency translation differences - - - - 12,381 8,224 20,605
 Transfer from regulatory reserves - - 35,118 (35,118)  - - -
 Reclasification of Non-controlling  interest - - 83,213 - - (83,213) -
       
       
 Total other comprehensive income - - 118,331 (35,118) 16,491 (74,989) 24,715
       
 total comprehensive income for the year - - 252,161 (35,118)    16,491 (74,744) 158,788
       
 At end of year  528,308 154,922 885,152 30,162 36,134    389,300 2,023,978
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   share share Retained Regulatory other total
   Capital  Premium earnings Reserves Reserves    
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000
 
 Year ended 31 December 2009      
 At start of year 528,308 154,922 424,891 63,158  1,171,279  
        
 total comprehensive income for the year
   
 Profit for the year - - 16,543 - - 16,543
      
 Other comprehensive income:       
      
 Available-for-sale financial assets net of tax - - - - 10,671 10,671
 Transfer from regulatory reserves - - 21,744 (21,744) - -
      
 Total other comprehensive income - - 21,744 (21,744) 10,671 10,671
 
 total comprehensive income for the year - - 38,287 (21,744) 10,671 27,214

 At end of year  528,308 154,922 463,178 41,414 10,671 1,198,493
      

Bank Statement of Changes in Equity
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   share share Retained Regulatory other total
   Capital  Premium earnings Reserves Reserves    
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

 Year ended 31 December 2010      
 At start of year 528,308 154,922 463,178 41,414 10,671 1,198,493
      
 Total comprehensive income for the year      
      
 Profit for the year - - 133,520 - - 133,520
      
 Other comprehensive income:       
      
 Available-for-sale financial assets net of tax - - - - 4,110 4,110
 Transfer from regulatory reserves - - 36,627 (36,627) - -
      
 Total other comprehensive income - - 36,627 (36,627) 4,110 4,110
 
 total comprehensive income for the year - - 170,147 (36,627) 4,110 137,630
      
 At end of year  528,308 154,922 633,325 4,787 14,781 1,336,123
      

Bank Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
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    2010 2009 
   notes shs’000 shs’000 
 Cashflow from operating activities     
 Interest received  2,051,140 1,789,109 
 Interest payments  (895,289) (839,064 )
 Net fee and commission receipts  438,007 315,896 
 Other income received  225,587 190,100 
 Recoveries from loans previously written off  111,705 141,718 
 Payments to employees and suppliers  (1,361,115) (873,374 )
 Income tax paid  (17,793) (16,499 )
     
 Cash flow from operating activities before changes     
 In operating assets and liabilities  552,242 707,886 
      
 Changes in operating assets and Liabilities     

 Loans and advances  (926,245) (737,513 )
 Cash reserve requirements   (145,277) 31,186 
 Government securities maturing after 90 days after date of acquisition  (1,557,737) (2,225,785 )
 Other assets  (4,232) (239,078 )
 Customer Deposits  2,049,108 3,267,793 
 Other Liabilities  10,995 (115,889 )
     
 Net cash flow from operating activities  (573,388) (19,286) 
      
 Cashflow from investing activities
 Purchase of property and equipment 16 (109,628) (168,304 )
 Purchase of intangible assets 18 (13,290) (55,496 )
 Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment  3,331 7,416 
     
 Net cash generated from investing activities  (119,587) (216,384 )
     
 Cashflow from financing activities 
 FMO Loan 24 (74,613) 160,234 
 Medium Term Note Issued 24 194,800  - 

 Net cash flow from financing activities  120,187 160,234 
     
 Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (20,546) 632,450 
     
 Cash and cash equivalents at start of period   2,128,864 1,496,414 
      
 Cash and cash equivalent at end of the year 30 2,108,318 2,128,864 
       

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Notes

 1 General information
 The Company is incorporated in Kenya under the Companies Act as a limited liability company, and is domiciled in Kenya. The address 
 of its registered office is:

  LR. Plot No. 209/X11/624
  FINA House, Kimathi Street
  P. O. Box 20613
  Nairobi-00200

 For Kenya Companies Act purposes, the balance sheet is represented by the statement of financial position and the profit and loss   
 account by income statement, in these financials statements.
 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
 The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These policies have been  
 consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation
The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board. Additional information required by national regulations is included where appropriate.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for available-for-sale financial assets and all
derivative contracts, which have been measured at fair value.

The disclosures on risks from financial instruments are presented in the financial risk management report contained in Note 4.
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires  
the directors to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a 
significant impact on the financial statements in the period the assumptions changed. The directors believe that the underlying assumptions 
are appropriate and that the Group’s financial statements therefore present the financial position and results fairly. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are 
disclosed in Note 3.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
 
new and amended standards adopted by the group

The amendments to existing standards below that are part of the Annual Improvements Project 2009 are relevant to the Group’s 
operations:

IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’. The amendment clarifies that the potential settlement of a liability by the issue of equity is not 
relevant to its classification as current or non-current. By amending the definition of current liability, the amendment permits a liability to 
be classified as non-current provided that the entity has an unconditional right to defer settlement by transfer of cash or other assets.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
for at least 12 months after the accounting period.  The application of the amendment does not have a significant impact on the Group’s 
financial statements.
AS 17, ‘Leases. The amendment clarifies that when a lease includes both land and buildings elements, an entity shall assess the 
classification of each element as a finance or an operating lease separately. The application of the amendment does not have a 
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)
new and amended standards adopted by the group (continued)

IAS 36, ‘Impairment of Assets’. The amendment clarifies that the largest cash-generating unit (or group of units) to which goodwill 
should be allocated for the purposes of impairment testing is an operating segment, as defined by paragraph 5 of IFRS 8, ‘ Operating 
Segments’ (that is, before the aggregation of segments with similar economic characteristics). The application of the amendment does 
not have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

New and amended standards, and interpretations mandatory for the financial year beginning 1 January 2010 but not relevant to 
the Group:

standard/ title  Applicable for financial
Interpretation   years beginning on/after 
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards - 
 Additional exemptions for first-time adopters 1 July 2009

IFRS 2 (amended) Share-based payment – Group cash-settled share-based payment transaction 1 January 2010

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (part of Annual Improvement Project 2009) - 
 Scope of IFRS 2 and revised IFRS 3 1 July 2009

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
 (part of Annual Improvement Project 2009) – Disclosures of non-current assets
 (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations 1 January 2010

IAS 38 Intangible assets (part of Annual Improvement Project 2009) – 
 Additional consequential amendments arising from revised IFRS 3 1 July 2009

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
 (part of Annual Improvement Project 2009) – 
 (i) Treating loan prepayment penalties as closely related embedded derivatives
 (ii) Scope exemption for business combination contracts 1 January 2010

IFRIC 9 & IAS 39 Reassessment of embedded derivatives and Financial Instruments:  
 Recognition and Measurement 30 June 2009

IFRIC 17 Distribution of non-cash assets to owners 1 July 2009

IFRIC 18 Transfers of assets from customers 1 July 2009

Notes (Continued)
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Notes (Continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
 (b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

 standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
   

The following new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations have been issued and are mandatory for the 
Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 or later periods and are not expected to be relevant to the Group, 
except for IFRS 9.
 
standard/  title  Applicable for financial
Interpretation    years beginning on/after

IFRS 1 (amended) First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – 
 Limited exemption from comparative IFRS 7 disclosures for first-time adopters 1 July 2010

IFRS 9 Financial instruments part 1: Classification and measurement 1 January 2013

IAS 24 (amended) Related party disclosures 1 January 2011

IAS 32 (amended) Financial instruments: Presentation – Classification of rights issue 1 February 2010

IFRIC 14 (amended) IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirement
 and their interaction 1 January 2011

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 1 July 2010

IFRs 9, ‘Financial instruments part 1: Classification and measurement’ and part 2: Financial liabilities and derecognition of 
financial instruments
IFRS 9, part 1 was issued in November 2009 and replaces those parts of IAS 39 relating to the classification and measurement of 
financial assets. Key features are as follows:

Financial assets are required to be classified into two measurement categories: those to be measured subsequently at fair value, and 
those to be measured subsequently at amortised cost. The decision is to be made at initial recognition. The classification depends on 
the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.

An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument and both the objective of the entity’s business  
model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flows, and the asset’s contractual cash flows represent only payments of 
principal and interest (that is, it has only ‘basic loan features’). All other debt instruments are to be measured at fair value through profit 
or loss.

All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments that are held for trading will be measured at 
fair value through profit or loss. For all other equity investments, an irrevocable election can be made at initial recognition, to recognise 
unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses through other comprehensive income rather than profit or loss. There is to be no 
recycling of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss. This election may be made on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Dividends are 
to be presented in profit or loss, as long as they represent a return on investment.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
While adoption of IFRS 9 is mandatory from 1 January 2013, earlier adoption is permitted. The Group is considering the implications 
of the Standard, the impact on the Group and the timing of its adoption by the Group.

IFRS 9, part 2 was issued in October 2010 and includes guidance on financial liabilities and derecognition of financial instruments. 
The accounting and presentation of financial liabilities and for derecognising financial instruments has been relocated from IAS 39, 
‘Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, without change except for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value 
through profit or loss.

Under the new standard, entities with financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss recognise changes in the liability’s credit risk 
directly in other comprehensive income. There is no subsequent recycling of the amounts in other comprehensive income to profit or  
loss, but accumulated gains or losses may be transferred within equity.

 
Improvements to IFRs
Improvements to IFRS’ were issued in May 2010. The amendments that are relevant to the Group’s operations relate to: IFRS 7, 
‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ and IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’. Most of the amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 with early application permitted.

IFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’. The amendment emphasises the interaction between quantitative and qualitative disclosures 
about the nature and extent of risks associated with financial instruments. 

IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’. The amendment clarifies that an entity must present an analysis of other comprehensive 
income for each component of equity, either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.
 
early adoption of standards
The Group did not early-adopt new or amended standards in 2010. 

 
(b) Consolidation

(i) subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying 
a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable 
or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.
 
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. 
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net assets.

Notes (Continued)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from 
contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment. The excess of the consideration 
transferred the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value over any previous equity 
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is 
less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly 
in profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(ii) Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of 
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are 
initially recognised at cost.  
The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in reserves of the associate is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted 
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the 
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the 
associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the separate statement of the financial position of the Bank, subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less any provision for 
impairment.

(c) Functional currency and translation of foreign currencies
(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic  
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kenya  
Shillings, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.
 
(ii) transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the   
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated with the closing rate as at the reporting date. If several exchange rates 
are available, the forward rate is used at which the future cash flows represented by the transaction or balance could have been settled 
if those cash flows had occurred. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are translated 

Notes (Continued)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
with the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition; non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured at fair value are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement. 
 
(iii) Consolidation of group entities
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a 
functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

   (i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that   
    statement of financial position;
   (ii) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a   
    reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income   
    expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and
   (iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities are taken to shareholders’ 
equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognized in the income statement as part of the gain or loss 
on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity 
and translated at the closing rate.

(d) Interest income and expense 
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments, except for those classified as held for trading or designated at 
fair value through profit or loss, are recognised within ‘interest income’ or ‘interest expense’ in the income statement using the effective 
interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the 
interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is 
recognised using the rate of interest that was used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

(e) Fees and commission income
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. Loan commitment fees for 
loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective 
interest rate on the loan.

Notes (Continued)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; loans, advances 
and receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets and available-for-sale financial assets.  Management determines the appropriate 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at 
inception.  A financial asset is classified as held for trading if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.  Derivatives 
are also categorised as held for trading.  Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss when:
	 •	 doing	so	significantly	reduces	or	eliminates	a	measurement	inconsistency;	or
	 •	 they	form	part	of	a	group	of	financial	assets	that	is	managed	and	evaluated	on	a	fair	value	basis	in	accordance	with	a		 	
  documented risk management or investment strategy and reported to key management personnel on that basis.

(ii) loans, advances and receivables
Loans, advances and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market, other than: (a) those classified as held for trading and those that the Group on initial recognition designates as at fair 
value through profit and loss; (b) those that the Group upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or (c) those for which the 
holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration.

(iii) held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the 
Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 
 
(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other 
categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the 
balance sheet date.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale are recognised 
on trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus, for all financial assets except those carried at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs.  Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where 
the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

Loans, advances and receivables and held-to-maturity financial assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ are included in the income 
statement in the period in which they arise. 

Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised 
in other comprehensive income. When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments are included in the income statement as gains and losses from investment securities.

Notes (Continued)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets 
is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss 
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated.  

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
	 •	 Delinquency	in	contractual	payments	of	principal	or	interest;
	 •	 Cash	flow	difficulties	experienced	by	the	borrower	(for	example,	equity	ratio,	net	income	percentage	of	sales);
	 •	 Breach	of	loan	covenants	or	conditions;	
	 •	 Initiation	of	bankruptcy	proceedings;
	 •	 Deterioration	of	the	borrower’s	competitive	position;
	 •	 Deterioration	in	the	value	of	collateral;	and
	 •	 Downgrading	below	investment	grade	level.	

The estimated period between losses occurring and its identification is determined by management for each identified portfolio. In 
general, the periods used vary between one month and three months.

(i) Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, 
and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective 
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group 
of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually 
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment 
of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the 
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial instrument’s original effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the profit and loss 
account. If a loan or held-to-maturity asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current 
effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Bank may measure impairment on the basis of an 
instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.
 
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that may 
result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics 
(i.e. on the basis of the Group’s grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due 
status 

Notes (Continued)



79F I n A  b A n k  2 0 1 0  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  &  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being 
indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash 
flows of the assets in the group and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.  Historical 
loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on 
which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.
 
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after all the 
necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for loan impairment in the income statement.
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss 
is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the income statement.

(ii) Renegotiated loans
Loans that are either subject to collective impairment assessment or individually significant and whose terms have been renegotiated 
are no longer considered to be past due but are treated as new loans. In subsequent years, the renegotiated terms apply in determining 
whether the asset is considered to be past due.

(h) Property and equipment
All categories of property and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Buildings and freehold land are subsequently shown at fair 
value, based on periodic, but at least triennial, valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings. 
All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit and loss account during the financial period in which they are incurred.
 
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are credited to a revaluation surplus reserve in equity. Decreases that offset previous 
increases of the same asset are charged against the revaluation surplus; all other decreases are charged to the profit and loss account.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the reducing balance method to allocate their cost or 
revalued amounts less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
 
 Buildings Over remaining period of the land lease

   Fixtures, fittings and equipment 12.5%
   Computer hardware and software 40%
   Motor vehicles 25%
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset’s carrying 
amount is written down immediately to its estimated recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount (see 1(j) below).
 
Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are included in the 
income statement. On disposal of revalued assets, amounts in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained 
earnings.

 (i) Intangible assets
(i) goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of  
the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.  
Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in investments in associates. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating 
to the entity sold.
  
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. Each of those cash-generating units represents the 
Group’s investment in each country of operation by each reporting segment (Note 21).

(ii) Computer software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.  
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (three to five years).

 
 (j) Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject 
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets 
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

 (k) Income tax
Income tax expense is the aggregate of the charge to the income statement in respect of current income tax and deferred income tax.  
Tax is recognised in the income statement unless it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is also recognised 
directly in equity.
 
Current income tax is the amount of income tax payable on the taxable profit for the year determined in accordance with the relevant 
tax legislation.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
 (k) Income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
temporary differences can be utilised.

 
 (l) Accounting for leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.  
All other leases are classified as finance leases.
 
(i) with the group as lessee
Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

(ii) with the group as lessor
When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is recognised as a receivable. The difference 
between the gross receivable and the present value of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease income is 
recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method (before income tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of 
return.

 (m) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less, including: cash and non-restricted balances with the Central Banks, Treasury and other eligible bills, 
and amounts due from other banks. Cash and cash equivalents excludes the cash reserve requirement held with the Central Banks.

 (n) Employee benefits
(i) Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit scheme for its employees. The Group and all its employees also contribute 
to the appropriate National Social Security Fund, which are defined contribution schemes. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan 
under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and 
prior periods. A defined benefit plan is a retirement benefit plan that is not a defined contribution plan.

The assets of all schemes are held in separate trustee administered funds, which are funded by contributions from both the Group and 
employees.  
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 2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
 (n) Employee benefits (continued)

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution schemes are charged to the income statement in the year in which they fall 
due.
 
(ii) other entitlements
Employee entitlements to long service awards are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated 
liability for such entitlements as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

The estimated monetary liability for employees’ accrued annual leave entitlement at the balance sheet date is recognised as an expense 
accrual.

 
 (o) Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives, which comprise solely forward foreign exchange contracts, are initially recognised at fair value on the date the derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently measured at fair value. The fair value is determined using forward exchange market rates 
at the balance sheet date or appropriate pricing models. The derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value 
of derivatives are recognised immediately in the income statement.

 (p) Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of transaction costs 
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the 
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

 (q) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to set 
off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 (r) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as ‘share capital’ in equity. Any premium received over and above the par value of the shares is classified 
as ‘share premium’ in equity.

 (s) Dividends payable
Dividends on ordinary shares are charged to equity in the period in which they are declared. Proposed dividends are shown as a 
separate component of equity until declared.

 (t) Acceptances and letters of credit
Acceptances and letters of credit are accounted for as off-balance sheet transactions and disclosed as contingent liabilities.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
 (u) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current year’s financial 
statements.

 

3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies
The group’s financial statements and its financial result are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and management 
judgement, which necessarily have to be made in the course of preparation of the financial statements. 

The group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
All estimates and assumptions required in conformity with IFRS are best estimates undertaken in accordance with the applicable 
standard. Estimates and judgements are evaluated on a continuous basis, and are based on past experience and other factors, including 
expectations with regard to future events. 

Accounting policies and management’s judgements for certain items are especially critical for the group’s results and financial situation 
due to their materiality.

 (a) Impairment losses on loans and advances
The group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss 
should be recorded in the income statement, the group makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating an 
impairment trigger followed by measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease 
can be identified with that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change 
in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the 
group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence 
of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for 
estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates 
and actual loss experience. 

 
 (b) Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments

The group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in 
the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement, the 
group evaluates among other factors, the volatility in share price. In addition, objective evidence of impairment may be deterioration 
in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash 
flows.
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3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)
 (c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments where no active market exists or where quoted prices are not otherwise available are determined 
by using valuation techniques. In these cases, the fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments 
or using models. Where market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated based on appropriate assumptions. Where 
valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified 
personnel independent of those that sourced them. All models are certified before they are used, and models are calibrated to ensure 
that outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. To the extent practical, models use only observable data; however, areas 
such as credit risk (both own credit risk and counterparty risk), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates.
 
 

 (d) Held-to-maturity investments
In accordance with IAS 39 guidance, the group classifies some non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity as held to maturity. This classification requires significant judgement. In making this judgement, the group evaluates its 
intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the group were to fail to keep these investments to maturity other than for 
the specific circumstances – for example, selling an insignificant amount close to maturity – the group is required to reclassify the entire 
category as available for sale. Accordingly, the investments would be measured at fair value instead of amortised cost. If all held-to-
maturity investments were to be so reclassified, the carrying value would increase by KShs 233 million (2009: KShs 43 million), with a 
corresponding entry in the fair value reserve in shareholders’ equity.

 (e) Impairment of goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(i). 
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. The carrying amount of 
the goodwill and the key assumptions made are set out in Note 21.
 

 (f) Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the Group’s provision for 
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary 
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will 
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

4 Financial risk management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash 
flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Those activities involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and 
management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the Group’s business, and the financial risks are an 
inevitable consequence of being in business. The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return 
and minimise potential adverse effects on its financial performance.
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk management is carried out by the Treasury and Credit department under policies approved by the Board of Directors.  
Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close cooperation with the operating units. The Board provides written 
principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, 
credit risk, use of derivative and non-derivative financial instruments. 

 
 (a) Credit risk

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss to the Group by failing to 
pay amounts in full when due. Credit risk is the most important risk for the Group’s business: management therefore carefully manages 
the exposure to credit risk. Credit exposures arise principally in lending and investment activities. There is also credit risk in off-balance 
sheet financial instruments, such as loan commitments. Credit risk management and control is centralised in the credit risk management 
department, which reports regularly to the Board Credit Committee.

The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, 
or groups of borrowers, and to industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to annual or more frequent 
review. Limits on the level of credit risk by product, industry sector and by country are approved quarterly by the Board of Directors.
 
The exposure to any one borrower including banks is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- and off-balance sheet exposures 
and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. Actual exposures against limits are 
monitored daily.
 
Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and 
capital repayment obligations and by changing lending limits where appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by 
obtaining collateral and corporate and personal guarantees, but a significant portion is personal lending where no such facilities can be 
obtained.

Credit related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees and standby 
letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet 
its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written 
undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under 
specific terms and conditions, are collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk 
than a direct borrowing.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters 
of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to 
the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to 
extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit 
commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
 (a) Credit risk (continued)

  Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Balances with Central Banks 843,842 675,933 662,829 567,029
  Government and other securities held to maturity 5,140,348 4,051,189 3,550,635 3,094,984
  Government and other securities available for sale 1,837,772 1,559,881 1,837,772 1,559,881
  Deposits and balances due from other banks 852,713 1,238,693 391,040 282,731
  Loans and advances to customers 10,165,285 9,291,539 6,718,235 5,937,140
  Other assets 315,166 241,213 219,364 104,849
  Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items:      
  - Acceptances and letters of credit 398,937 395,781 318,652 346,659
  - Guarantee and performance bonds 1,452,491 790,123 812,202 530,642
  - Commitments to lend 971,869 826,416 428,577 501,847

   21,978,423 19,070,768 14,939,306 12,925,762 
           
 

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at 31 December 2010 and 2009, without taking 
account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance sheet assets, the exposures set out above are 
based on carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial position.

As shown above, 46%. of the total maximum exposure of the Group is derived from loans and advances to banks and customers (2009: 
48%). 32% represents investments in debt securities (2009: 29%).

Management is confident on its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the Group resulting from 
bothits loan and advances portfolio and debt securities based on the following:

   78% of the loans and advances portfolio are neither past due nor impaired
   68% of the loans and advances portfolio are backed by collateral
   74% of the investments in debt securities are government securities.
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
 (a) Credit risk (continued)

  Financial assets that are past due or impaired   
  Loans and advances are summarised as follows: 
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Neither past due nor impaired   8,345,477 7,292,169 5,769,144 5,117,933
  Past due but not impaired 860,773 832,888 381,195 434,192
  Impaired 1,619,268 1,774,216 1,072,386 865,753

  Gross 10,825,518 9,899,273 7,222,725 6,417,878
  Less: allowance for impairment (Note 14) 660,233 607,734 504,491 480,738

  Net 10,165,285 9,291,539 6,718,234 5,937,140
       
  No other financial assets are either past due or impaired.

  loans and advances neither past due nor impaired
  The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the  
  internal rating system adopted by the Group:
   
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000
       
  Standard 8,345,477 7,292,169 5,769,144 5,117,933 
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
 (a) Credit risk (continued)

 loans and advances past due but not impaired
 Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information is available to indicate the contrary.  
 The gross amounts of loans and advances that were past due but not impaired were as follows:
    
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

        
  Past due up to 30 days 297,008 260,677 33,240 41,394
  Past due 31 – 60 days 183,344 171,394 63,450 71,720
  Past due 61 – 90 days 380,421 400,817 284,505 321,078

  Total 860,773 832,888 381,195 434,192
        

 loans and advances individually impaired
 Of the total gross amount of impaired loans, the following amounts have been individually assessed:

   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000
       

  Individually assessed impaired loans and advances      
  - corporate 1,397,521 1,457,980 993,604 787,007
  - retail 221,747 316,235 78,782 78,746

   1,619,268 1,774,215 1,072,386 865,753

  Fair value of collateral held 741,574 824,109 433,319 312,046
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
 (b) Concentration of risk
 
 Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan and  deposit portfolios were as follows:

 (i) loans and advances 
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   % % % %  

  Manufacturing  19 16 26 25
  Wholesale and retail trade 36 21 32 21
  Transport and communications 7 13 5 4
  Business services 1 4 1 6
  Agricultural  4 4 6 6
  Individuals 6 6 2 2
  Other 27 36 28 36

   100 100 100 100
  
     
 (ii) Customer deposits
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   % % % %
        
  Private enterprises 41 31 31 28
  Non-profit making organization and individuals 47 52                   61 66
  Others 12 17 8 6

   100 100 100 100
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
 (b) Concentration of risk

 (iii) off-balance sheet Items
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   % % % %

  Manufacturing 28 26 23 22
  Wholesale, retail trade and hotels 30 33 40 42
  Others 42 41 37 36  

   100 100 100 100
        

 (c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities as they fall due 
and to replace funds when they are withdrawn.

The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current accounts, maturing deposits, and 
calls on cash settled contingencies. The Group does not maintain cash resources to meet all of these needs as experience shows that a 
minimum level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of certainty. The regulatory bodies of the respective 
countries require that the Group maintain a cash reserve ratio. In addition, the Board sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing 
funds available to meet such calls and on the minimum level of inter-bank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover 
withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand. The Treasury department monitors liquidity ratios on a daily basis.

The table below presents the undiscounted cash flows payable by the Group under financial liabilities by remaining contractual 
maturities at the balance sheet date and receivable from financial assets by expected maturity dates. All figures are in thousands of 
Kenya Shillings.
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
 (c) Liquidity risk (continued)

  i) group

   Upto 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 over 
 At december 2010 Month Months Months years 5 years total
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Liabilities      
  Customer deposits 5,334,987    6,760,380 4,250,927 1,958,069                  -    18,304,363
  Deposits and balances 
  due to banking institutions 884,909 312,041 96,649             -                     -    1,293,599
  Borrowings              986    1,845 37,805 187,733 197,305 425,674
  Other liabilities                 147,074    71,577 78,683             -                     -    297,334
      
  Total financial liabilities 
  (contractual maturity dates)                 6,367,956    7,145,843 4,464,064 2,145,802 197,305 20,320,970
                                                                                     
  Assets      
  Cash and balances with Central Banks        1,433,322    259,581 162,745 59,796                  -    1,915,444
  Government and other Securities held 753,584 758,175 1,019,480 2,590,720 1,948,486 7,070,445
  Deposits and balances
  due from banking institutions 852,713             -                     -                -                     -    852,713
  Loans and advances to customers 3,578,938 1,078,621 1,079,123 4,245,225 1,276,522 11,258,429
  Other financial assets 290,643 66,372 19,144             -                     -    376,159
      
  Total financial assets
  (expected maturity dates) 6,909,200    2,162,749 2,280,492 6,695,741 3,225,008 21,473,190
      
  Liquidity Gap (541,244)    4,983,094 2,183,572 (4,549,939) (3,027,703) (1,152,220)
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
 (c) Liquidity risk (continued)

  i) group

   Upto 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 over 
  At december 2009 Month Months Months years 5 years total
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  liabilities      
  Customer deposits   4,511,088  5,595,350 2,883,461 2,171,793             -    15,161,692
  Deposits and balances
  due to banking institutions       -  928,910         411,686                   -                -          1,340,596 
  Borrowings 3,100  43,207 38,856 267,123             -    352,286
  Other liabilities 164,917 32,729 27,413                  -                -    225,059
            
  Total financial liabilities
  (contractual maturity dates) 4,679,105 6,600,196 3,361,416 2,438,916 - 17,079,633
            
  Assets      
  Cash and balances with Central Banks 691,375 186,864 176,417 62,502  1,117,158
  Government and other Securities held  1,715,288 69,065 554,878 3,886,724 1,076,965     7,302,920
  Deposits and balances
  due from banking institutions 655,944 582,749 - - - 1,238,693
  Loans and advances to customers 913,668 1,005,840 3,603,114 3,923,675 1,203,099 10,649,396
  Other financial assets 211,747 99,048 66,918 2,678  380,391
      
  Total financial assets
  (expected maturity dates) 4,188,022 1,943,566 4,401,327 7,875,579 2,280,064 20,688,558
      
  Liquidity Gap 419,083 4,656,630 (1,039,911) (5,436,633) (2,280,064)  (3,608,925)
      

Notes (Continued)
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
 (c) Liquidity risk (continued)

   ii) bank 

   Upto 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 over 
  At december 2010 Month Months Months years 5 years total
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  liabilities      
  Customer deposits 4,097,761 4,145,743 2,804,290 1,958,070 - 13,005,864
  Deposits and balances 
  due to banking institutions 627,136 - - - - 627,136
  Amounts due to group companies - - - - - -
  Borrowings 986 1,845 37,805 187,733 197,305 425,674
  Other liabilities 125,511 - - - - 125,511  

  Total financial liabilities
  (contractual maturity dates) 4,851,394 4,147,588 2,842,095 2,145,803 197,305 14,184,185
      
  Assets      
  Cash and balances with
  Central Bank of Kenya 416,407 259,581 162,754 59,787 - 898,529
  Government and other securities held 51,231 214,050 791,200 2,455,050 1,948,486 5,460,017
  Deposits and balances due
  from banking institutions 391,040 - - - - 391,040
  Amounts due from group companies 9,112 - - - - 9,112
  Loans and advances to customers 3,072,605 211,179 646,569 2,757,372 1,123,654 7,811,379
  Other assets 276,993 - - - - 276,993
      
  Total financial assets
  (expected maturity dates) 4,217,388 684,810 1,600,523 5,272,209 3,072,140 14,847,070
      
  Liquidity Gap 634,006 3,462,778 1,241,572 (3,126,406) (2,874,835) (662,885)
      

Notes (Continued)
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
 (c) Liquidity risk (continued)

  ii) bank

   Upto 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 over 
  At december 2009 Month Months Months years 5 years total
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Liabilities      
  Customer deposits 3,346,922 2,910,307 1,980,260 2,171,793 - 10,409,282
  Deposits and balances due 
  to banking institutions - 663,306 - - - 663,306
  Amounts due to group companies - - - - - -
  Borrowings 3,100 43,207 38,856 267,123 - 352,286
  Other liabilities 122,484 - - - - 122,484

  Total financial liabilities
  (contractual maturity dates)   3,472,506 3,616,820 2,019,116 2,438,916 -      11,547,358
      
  Assets      
  Cash and balances with
  Central Bank of Kenya 366,324 186,864 176,417 62,502 - 792,107
  Government and other securities held  785,953 69,065 528,007 3,886,724 1,076,965 6,346,714
  Deposits and balances due 
  from banking institutions 282,731 - - - - 282,731
  Amounts due from group companies 5,208 - - - - 5,208
  Loans and advances to customers 673,213 563,585 2,030,741 3,339,932 687,526 7,294,997
  Other assets 157,015 - - - - 157,015

  Total financial assets
  (expected maturity dates) 2,270,444 819,514 2,735,165 7,289,158 1,764,491 14,878,772

  Liquidity Gap 1,202,062 2,797,306 (716,049) (4,850,242) (1,764,491) (3,331,414)
      

 (d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, which include currency exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the fair value or 
future cash flows of a financial instrument. Market risk arises from open positions in interest rates and foreign currencies, both of which 
are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility. The objective of market risk management 
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable limits, while optimising the return on risk. Overall responsibility for 
managing market risk rests with the Board Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). The Treasury department is responsible for the 
development of detailed risk management policies (subject to review and approval by ALCO) and for the day to day implementation 
of those policies.

Notes (Continued)
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Notes (Continued)

4 Financial risk management (continued)

  (i) Currency risk
The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and 
cash flows. The Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are 
monitored daily. 

The table below summarises the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk as at 31 December 2010. 
Included in the table are the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments categorised by currency. All figures are in thousands of 
Kenya Shillings.

  group

  At 31 december 2010 Usd gbP eURo RwF other total

  Assets      
  Cash and balances with Central Banks 787,206 11,981 65,470 205,057 - 1,069,714
  Deposit and balances due 
  from banking institutions 308,362 74,414 129,132 292,466 3,396 807,770
  Loans and advances to customers 2,003,828 27,687 41,219 3,199,159 48,896 5,320,789
  Other assets 2,242 725 19,500 86,822  109,289 

  total assets 3,101,638 114,807 255,321 3,783,504 52,292 7,307,562

  liabilities      
  Customer deposits 1,983,449 59,826 240,100 4,273,814 1,549 6,558,738
  Deposits and balances due 
  to banking institutions 712,094 312,041 154,966 - 50,229 1,229,330
  Other liabilities 16,368 28 822 154,605 - 171,823

  Total liabilities 2,711,911 371,895 395,888 4,428,419 51,778 7,959,891

  Net on-balance sheet position 389,727 (257,088) (140,567) (644,915) 514 (652,329)

  Net off-balance sheet position (443,436) 58,353 (40,773) - - (425,856)

  Overall open position (53,709) (198,735) (181,340) (644,915) 514 (1,078,185)

  At 31 december 2009      
  Total assets 1,955,554 89,453 304,087 4,088,987 28,223 6,466,304
  Total liabilities 1,968,951 94,556 295,613 4,463,206 27,202 6,849,528

  Net on-balance sheet position (13,397) (5,103) 8,474 (374,219) 1,021 (383,224)

  Net off-balance sheet position (277,743) 133,499 (2,187) (259,480) 2,537 (403,374)

  Overall open position (291,140) 128,396 6,287 (633,699) 3,558 (786,598)
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
 
  (i) Currency risk (continued)

  bank

  At 31 december 2010 Usd gbP eURo other total

  Assets     
  Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 34,446 10,396 7,957 - 52,799
  Deposit and balances due from banking institutions 240,793 69,089 32,821 3,396 346,099
  Loans and advances to customers 1,755,992 27,687 41,164 48,896 1,873,739

  Total assets 2,031,231 107,172 81,942 52,292 2,272,637

  Liabilities     
  Customer deposits 1,130,827 56,648 71,211 1,549 1,260,235
  Deposits and balances due to banking institution 454,321 - 48,172 50,229 552,722

  Total liabilities 1,585,148 56,648 119,383 51,778 1,812,957

  Net on-balance sheet position 446,083 50,524 (37,441) 514 459,680

  Net off-balance sheet position (443,436) 58,353 (40,773) - (425,856)

  Overall open position 2,647 108,877 (78,214) 514 33,824

  At 31 december 2009     

  Total assets 1,395,265 75,461 81,642 28,223 1,580,591
  Total liabilities 1,250,793 92,941 81,758 27,202 1,452,694

  Net on-balance sheet position 144,472 (17,480) (116) 1,021 127,897

  Net off-balance sheet position (228,621) 133,499 (2,187) 2,537 (94,772)

  Overall open position (84,149) 116,019 (2,303) 3,558 33,125
     

At 31 December 2010, if the Shilling had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, 
consolidated post tax profit for the year would have been Shs 5 million (2009: Shs 29 million ) higher/lower, mainly as a result of US 
dollar loans and advances and bank balances.

Notes (Continued)



97F I n A  b A n k  2 0 1 0  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  &  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

4 Financial risk management (continued)
 
  (ii) Interest rate risk 

The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair value and 
cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected 
movements arise. The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is 
monitored daily.

The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the assets and liabilities at carrying 
amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. The Group does not bear any interest rate risk on off 
balance sheet items.  All figures are in thousands of Kenya Shillings.

   group 

   Upto 1 Month 1-3 Months 3-12 Months over 1 year non-Interest total
  At 31 december  2010     bearing 

  Assets      
  Cash and balances with Central Banks  - - - - 1,915,445 1,915,445
  Government and Other Securities
  held to maturity 710,641 707,717 995,989 2,726,001 - 5,140,348
  Government and Other Securities
  available for sale - - 10,000 1,827,772 - 1,837,772
  Deposit and balances due
  from banking institutions 656,953 - - - 195,760 852,713
  Loans and advances to customers 2,527,249 1,999,846 751,845 4,886,345 - 10,165,285
  Other financial assets - - - - 376,159 376,159

  Total financial assets 3,894,843 2,707,563 1,757,834 9,440,118 2,487,364 20,287,722

  Liabilities      
  Customer deposits 3,217,501 5,903,712 4,026,385 719,264 3,022,064 16,888,926
  Deposits and balance due
  to banking institutions 882,703 312,041 70,986 - 25,662 1,291,392
  Borrowings - - 74,614 347,542 - 422,156
  Other financial liabilities - - - - 297,334 297,334

  Total financial liabilities 4,100,204 6,215,753 4,171,985 1,066,806 3,345,060 18,899,808

  Interest sensitivity gap (205,361) (3,508,190) (2,414,151) 8,373,312 (857,696) 1,387,914

  At 31 december 2009      
  Total financial assets 3,742,709 2,276,156 8,005,013 2,117,423 1,497,549 17,638,850
  Total financial liabilities 4,176,742 4,089,294 4,201,126 1,074,676 2,922,959 16,464,797

  Total interest repricing gap (434,033) (1,813,138) 3,803,887 1,042,747 (1,425,410) 1,174,053

Notes (Continued)
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4 Financial risk management (continued)

  (ii) Interest rate risk (continued)

  bAnk 

   Upto 1 Month 1-3 Months 3-12 Months over 1 year non-Interest total
  As 31 december  2010     bearing  

  Assets      
  Cash and balances with
  Central Bank of Kenya - - - - 898,529 898,529
  Government and other Securities
  held to maturity 69,339 134,050 736,200 2,611,046 - 3,550,635
  Government and other Securities
  available for sale - - 10,000 1,827,772 - 1,837,772
  Deposit and balances due
  from banking institutions 391,040 - - - - 391,040
  Amounts due from group companies - - - - 9,112 9,112
  Loans and advances to customers 2,020,917 1,132,404 319,291 3,245,623 - 6,718,235
  Other financial assets - - - - 276,993 276,993

  Total financial assets 2,481,296 1,266,454 1,065,491 7,684,441 1,184,634 13,682,316

  Liabilities       
  Customer deposits 2,970,115 5,201,886 2,699,158 701,260 18,004 11,590,423
  Deposits and balances due
  to banking institutions 624,930 - - - - 624,930
  Borrowing - - - - - -
  Other financial liabilities - - - - 125,511 125,511
  Loan Repayable - - 74,614 347,542 - 422,156

  Total financial liabilities 3,595,045 5,201,886 2,773,772 1,048,802 143,515 12,763,020

  Interest sensitivity gap (1,113,749) (3,935,432) (1,708,281) 6,635,639 1,041,119 919,296

  At 31 December 2009      
  Total assets 2,087,015 1,363,843 5,306,455 2,117,423 954,331 11,829,067
  Total liabilities 3,930,878 2,845,041  3,071,264  1,074,676  157,062  11,078,921 

  Total interest repricing gap (1,843,863) (1,481,198) 2,235,191 1,042,747 797,269 750,146
            
 

Notes (Continued)
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4 Financial risk management (continued)

  (ii) Interest rate risk (continued)
The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the management 
of the Group. It is unusual for banks ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of uncertain terms and of different 
types. An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses.

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are 
important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

The Group has various financial assets and liabilities at variable rates, which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group 
regularly monitors financing options available to ensure optimum interest rates are obtained. At 31 December 2010, an increase/
decrease of 75 basis points would have resulted in an decrease/increase in consolidated post tax profit of Shs 46 million (2009: Shs 12 
million), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest charges on variable rate borrowings.

 (e) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The fair value of held-to-maturity investment securities at 31 December 2010 is estimated at Shs 5,373 million (2009: Shs 4,094 million) 
compared to their carrying value of Shs 5,140 million (2009: Shs 4,051 million). The fair values of the Bank’s other financial assets and 
liabilities approximate the respective carrying amounts, due to the generally short periods to contractual repricing or maturity dates as 
set out above. Fair values are based on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based upon the borrowing rate that the directors 
expect would be available to the Bank at the balance sheet date.

  (i) Fair value estimation
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation method. The different levels have defined as follows:

	 	 	 •	 Quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	(level	1).
	 	 	 •	 Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or		liability,	either	directly	(that	is,	as			
       prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).
	 	 	 •	 Inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	(that	is,		unobservable	inputs)	(level	3).

    

   level 1 level 2 level 3 total balance
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Assets    
  Available-for-sale financial assets - 1,837,772 - 1,837,772

Notes (Continued)
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
 (f) Capital management
 
  The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the balance sheets, are:
	 	 	 •	 to	comply	with	the	capital	requirements	set	by	the	Central	Bank	of	Kenya;
	 	 	 •	 to	safeguard	the	Bank’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	concern,	so	that	it	can	continue	to	provide	returns	for	shareholders	and	
    benefits for other stakeholders;
	 	 	 •	 to	maintain	a	strong	capital	base	to	support	the	development	of	its	business.
 

Capital adequacy and use of regulatory capital are monitored regularly by management, employing techniques based on the guidelines 
developed by the Basel Committee, as implemented by the Central Bank of Kenya for supervisory purposes. The required information 
is filed with the Central Bank of Kenya on a monthly basis.
 
The Central Bank of Kenya requires each bank to: (a) hold the minimum level of regulatory capital of Shs 500 million; (b) maintain a 
ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets plus risk-weighted off-balance sheet assets (the ‘Basel ratio’) at or above the 
required minimum of 8%; (c) maintain core capital of not less than 8% of total deposit liabilities; and (d) maintain total capital of not 
less than 12% of risk-weighted assets plus risk-weighted off-balance sheet items.
 
The bank’s total regulatory capital is divided into two tiers:

	 	 	 •	 Tier	1	capital	(core	capital):	share	capital,	share	premium,	plus	retained	earnings.
	 	 	 •	 Tier	2	capital	(supplementary	capital):	25%	(subject	to	prior	approval)	of	revaluation	reserves,	subordinated	debt	not	exceeding		
    50% of Tier 1 capital and hybrid capital instruments. Qualifying Tier 2 capital is limited to 100% of Tier 1 capital.

The risk weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of four risk weights classified according to the nature of – and reflecting 
an estimate of the credit risk associated with – each asset and counterparty. A similar treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet 
exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses.

Notes (Continued)
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
 (f) Capital management (continued)

  The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank at 31 December:

    2010 2009
    shs’000 shs’000
     
  Tier 1 capital  1,121,393  951,246
  Tier 1 + Tier 2 capital  1,320,980 992,660
      
  Risk-weighted assets     

  On-balance sheet    7,573,178 6,688,987
  Off-balance sheet     169,843 188,786

  Total risk-weighted assets  7,743,021  6,877,773
      
  basel ratio     
 
  Tier 1 (CBK minimum – 8%)  14.48% 13.83%
  Tier 1 + Tier 2 (CBK minimum – 12%)  17.06% 14.43%

 

5 Interest income 
   group

    2010 2009
    shs’000 shs’000
    
  Loans and advances  1,525,369 1,489,172
  Government and other securities  488,877 258,621
  Cash and short term funds  46,077 26,358
  Other  40,329 40,122

    2,100,652 1,814,273
    

Notes (Continued)
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6 Interest expense
   group

    2010 2009
    shs’000 shs’000  

  Customer deposits  847,820 771,910
  Deposits by banks  74,009 31,059
  Borrowed Funds  25,146 33,406
  Other  1,905 9,330

    948,880 845,705
    

7 Expenses by nature   
 The following items are included within operating expenses:
   group

    2010 2009
    shs’000 shs’000  

  Employee benefits expense (Note 8)  704,636 565,992
  Director Emolument: Fees  22,347 23,130
  Amsco management fees  47,578 26,802
  Depreciation (Note 16)  62,651 56,812
  Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18)  27,544 18,447
  Operating lease rentals  59,654 54,341
  Auditors’ remuneration  7,140 8,315
  Other operating expenses  459,777 394,394

    1,391,327 1,148,233

8 Employee benefits expense
   group

    2010 2009
    shs’000 shs’000  

  Salaries and wages  582,404 476,994
  Medical expenses  29,446 25,138
  Training  14,363 11,853
  Pension fund contribution  24,912 17,291
  Others  53,511 34,716  

    704,636 565,992

Notes (Continued)
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9 Income tax expense 
   group

    2010 2009
    shs’000 shs’000  

  Current income tax                                                                                                                     47,496 12,040
  Deferred income tax (Note 19)  44,898 38,713

  Income tax expense         92,394 50,753
    

 
  The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory income tax rate  
  as follows: 
   group 

    2010 2009 
    shs’000 shs’000 

  Profit before income tax   226,468 160,179 
     
  Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable to profits
  in the respective countries - 30% (2009 - 30%)  67,940 48,054 
  Tax effect of:    
  Income not subject to tax  (97,743) 30,567 
  Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  77,968 (27,868) 
  Derecognition of prior year deferred tax asset  44,229 - 

  Income tax expense  92,394 50,753 
     

10 Earnings per share
  Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank by the weighted average   
  number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. 

    2010 2009
    shs’000 shs’000

  Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (Shs thousands)  133,828 62,267 

  Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)  528 528
  Basic earnings per share (Shs)  253.46 117.93
     
  There were no potentially dilutive shares outstanding at 31 December 2010 or 2009. Diluted earnings per share are therefore the   
  same as basic earnings per share.

Notes (Continued)
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Notes (Continued)

11 Cash and balances with the Central Bank
   group  bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009  
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Cash in hand 1,071,603 441,225 235,700 225,078
  Balances with the Central Banks 843,842 675,933 662,829 567,029

   1,915,445 1,117,158 898,529 792,107
        

12 Government and other securities 
  (a) Held to maturity 
   group  bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Government securities – at amortised cost      
  – Maturing within 90 days of the date of acquisition 1,467,278 1,227,719 220,800 298,384
  – Maturing after 90 days of the date of acquisition 3,673,070 2,750,685 3,329,835 2,723,815
  Debt securities – at amortised cost - - - - 
   – Unlisted - 72,785 -   72,785

   5,140,348 4,051,189 3,550,635 3,094,984
        

  (b) Available for sale 
   group  bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Government securities – at Fair Value      
  – Maturing within 90 days of the date of acquisition - 429,942 - 429,942
  – Maturing after 90 days of the date of acquisition 1,502,534 886,027 1,502,534 886,027
  Debt securities – at Fair Value - - - -
   – Unlisted 335,238 243,912 335,238 243,912

   1,837,772 1,559,881 1,837,772 1,559,881
        
  Debt securities consist of corporate bonds and commercial papers.
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Notes (Continued)

13 Deposits and balances due from other banks 
   group bank 

   2010 2009 2010 2009  
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Due from local banking institutions 57,504 76,405 57,504 76,405
  Due from foreign banking institutions 795,209 1,162,288 333,536 206,326

   852,713 1,238,693 391,040 282,731

14 Loans and advances to customers
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs‘000 shs‘000 shs‘000 shs‘000  

  Overdrafts 4,173,817 3,051,932 3,296,022 2,176,639
  Commercial loans 3,959,626 3,689,379 2,839,142 2,694,898
  Personal loans 756,880 899,987 317,350 472,625
  Hire purchase 183,494 425,980 183,594 425,980
  Mortgages    298,837 290,564 -  -
  Other  1,452,864 1,541,431 586,618 647,736

  Gross loans and advances 10,825,518 9,899,273 7,222,726 6,417,878
        
  Less: Provision for impairment of loans and advances      
   - Individually assessed 592,490 524,985 445,574 458,712
   - Collectively assessed  67,743 82,749 58,917 22,026

   10,165,285 9,291,539 6,718,235 5,937,140

  Movements in provisions for impairment of loans and advances are as follows:
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14 Loans and advances to customers (continued)

  a) Group 
   overdrafts Personal Commercial total 
    loans loans
   shs‘000 shs‘000  shs‘000 shs‘000 

  At 1 January 2009 97,937 8,451 373,725 480,113 
  Provision for loan impairment  71,793 19,930 241,147 332,870 
  Loans written off during the year as uncollectible                     (35) (567) (19,236) (19,838 )
  Amounts recovered during year (2,804) (1,848) (180,759) (185,411)

  At 31 december 2009 166,891 25,966 414,877 607,734 

  Provision for loan impairment  304,387 19,881 107,597 431,865 
  Loans written off during the year as uncollectible (122,863) 10,812 (185,951) (298,003)
  Amounts recovered during year (69,032) - (12,331) (81,363 )
        
  At 31 december 2010 279,383 56,658 324,192 660,233 
        

  b) Bank
   overdrafts Personal Commercial total 
    loans loans
   shs‘000 shs‘000  shs‘000 shs‘000 

  At 1 January 2009 97,937 8,451 171,387 277,775 
  Provision for loan impairment  71,793 19,930 177,673 269,396 
  Loans written off during the year as uncollectible                  (35) (567) (14,748) (15,351)
  Amounts recovered during year (2,804) (1,848) (46,430) (51,082)

  At 31 december 2009 166,891 25,966 287,882 480,738 

  Provision for loan impairment  254,760 19,881 98,770 373,412 
  Loans written off during the year as uncollectible (102,745) (11,988) (185,951) (300,685)
  Amounts recovered during year (48,974) -  (48,974) 

  At 31 december 2010 269,932 33,858 200,701 504,491 
        
 

 All impaired loans have been written down to their estimated recoverable amount. The aggregate carrying amount of impaired loans 
at 31  December 2010 was Shs 1,341 million (2009: Shs 1,167 million).  The loans and advances to customers include finance lease 
receivables, which may be analysed as follows:

Notes (Continued)
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14 Loans and advances to customers (continued)
   group bank 

   2010 2009 2010 2009        
   Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 

  Gross investment in finance leases:      
  
  Not later than 1 year 58,369 63,370 44,672 63,370 
  Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 470,621 564,111 62,459 67,619 

   528,990 627,481 107,131 130,989 

  Unearned future finance income on finance leases (130,946) (145,676) (23,470) (26,913)

  Net investment in finance leases 398,044 481,805 83,661 104,076 
        
 

 Included in the Group’s provision for impairment of loans and advances as at 31 December 2010 is Shs 27 million (2009: Shs 9 million) 
attributable to uncollectible finance lease receivables.

15 Investments in subsidiary and associates 
  a) Investment in subsidiary (at cost)
 
  The Bank’s interest in its subsidiary, which is unlisted and has the same year end as the Bank, is as follows:
    bank

   Country of % Interest 2010 2009
   Incorporation held shs’000 shs’000

  Fina Bank S. A. Rwanda Rwanda 55.78% 164,039 164,039
       

  b)  Investment in associate 
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  As at 1 January  - 13,763 31,123 31,123
  Investment In Associate - - -  -
  Share of loss - (13,763) -  -
        
  As at 31 December  - - 31,123 31,123
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15 Investments in subsidiary and associates 
  b) Investment in associate (continued)

  The Group’s interest in its associate, which is unlisted, is as follows:

   Country of % Interest Assets liabilities loss
   Incorporation held shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  2009     
  Fina Bank (Uganda) Limited Uganda 30% 1,234,053 965,787 141,342
       
  2010     
  Fina Bank (Uganda) Limited Uganda 30% 2,179,661  1,930,351 141,042
       
 

16 Property and equipment 
  group 

   buildings and Computer Motor Fixtures, work-in- total
   Freehold land  equipment Vehicles Fittings and Progress
      equipment    
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 

  year ended 31 december 2009
  Opening net book amount 135,991 15,605 24,021 233,305 35,795 444,717 
  Additions - 3,189 3,001 60,411 101,703 168,304 
  Reclassification - - (192) 1,395 (1,203) - 
  Disposals - - (3,399) (846) - (4,245 )
  Depreciation charge (5,149) (4,629) (4,803) (42,231) - (56,812 )
  Currency translation difference (2,522) (273) (359) (4,861) (2,625) (10,640 )

  Closing net book amount 128,320 13,892 18,269 247,173 133,670 541,324 
          
  At 31 december 2009        
  Cost or valuation 193,940 99,051 40,596 455,349 141,312 930,248 
  Accumulated depreciation (65,620) (85,159) (22,327) (208,176) (7,642) (388,924 )

  Net book amount 128,320 13,892 18,269 247,173 133,670 541,324 
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16 Property and equipment (continued)
  a) Group (continued)

   buildings and lease hold Computer Motor Fixtures, work-in- total 
   Freehold land Improvements equipment  Vehicles Fittings and  Progress 
       equipment   
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 

  year ended 31 december 2010
  Opening net book amount 128,320 - 13,892 18,269 247,173 133,670 541,324 
  Additions - 28,549 14,464 5,291 61,324 - 109,628 
  Reclassification - 106,464 2,096 - 17 (117,296) (8,720) 
  Disposals - - (3,542) (4,176) (6,471) - (14,189) 
  Depreciation charge (5,164) - (4,483) (2,659) (50,346) - (62,651) 
  Elimination on disposal - - 3,235 1,464 5,968 - 10,667 
  Currency translation difference 12 - 2,377 5 47 - 2,441 

  Closing net book amount 123,168 135,013 28,039 18,194 257,712 16,374 578,500 

  At 31 december 2010         
  Cost or valuation 193,940 135,013 113,515 45,887 515,278 141,312 1,038,481 
  Accumulated depreciation (70,772) - (85,476) (27,693) (257,566) (124,938) (459,981) 
           
  Net book amount 123,168 135,013 28,039 18,194 257,712 16,374 578,500 
           
  

Buildings and freehold land were last revalued during 2008, by Mudas Property Services Limited, independent valuers. Valuations were 
made on the basis of the open market value. The book values of the properties were adjusted to the revaluations and the resultant surplus 
net of deferred income tax was credited to the revaluation surplus in shareholders’ equity. If the buildings and freehold land were stated 
on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:

    2010 2009 
    shs’000 shs’000 

  Cost  71,054 71,054 

  Accumulated depreciation  (26,076) (20,924 )

  Net book amount     44,978 50,130 
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16 Property and equipment (continued)
  b) Bank 

   Computer  Motor Fixtures, Fittings work-in- total 
   equipment Vehicles and equipment Progress  
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 

  year ended 31 december 2009       
  Opening net book amount 9,862 5,618 179,912 1,203 196,595 
  Additions 3,189 - 40,228 19,660 63,077 
  Depreciation charge (4,629) (1,255) (25,417) - (31,301 )
  Reclassification - (192) 1,395 (1,203) - 

  Closing net book amount 8,422 4,171 196,118 19,660 228,371 
  
  At 31 December 2009       
  Cost 52,647 8,680 318,609 19,660 399,596 
  Accumulated depreciation (44,225) (4,509) (122,491) - (171,225 )

  Net book amount 8,422 4,171 196,118 19,660 228,371 
         

   Computer  Motor Fixtures, fittings work-in- total 
   equipment vehicles and equipment progress  
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 

  year ended 31 december 2010       
  Opening net book amount 8,422 4,171 196,118 19,660 228,371 
  Additions 14,464 - 9,199 - 23,663
  Disposals  (3,542) (3,158) (1,546) - (8,246) 
  Depreciation charge (4,483) (730) (25,478) - (30,692) 
  Elimination on Disposal 3,235 1,464 1,207 - 5,906 
  Reclassification 2,096 - (49) (1,768) 279

  Closing net book amount 20,192 1,746 179,451 17,892 219,281 
         
  At 31 December 2010
  Cost 65,665 5,522 326,213 17,892 415,292 
  Accumulated depreciation (45,473) (3,776) (146,762) - (196,011) 

  Net book amount 20,192 1,746 179,451 17,892 219,281 
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17 Fair values
The directors consider that there is no material difference between the fair value and carrying value of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities where fair value details have not been presented, except as explained in note 4(e).

18 Intangible assets 
             group bank 

  - software costs 2010 2009 2010 2009 
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Opening net book amount 53,811 17,023 3,542 2,969 
  Additions 13,290 55,496 9,405 1,906 
  Amortisation (27,544) (18,447) (1,777) (1,333 )
  Reclassification from property and equipment 8,720 - -  - 
  Currency translation difference 1,365 (261) -  - 

  At end of year 49,642 53,811 11,170 3,542 

  At 31 December      
  Cost 152,420 130,131 43,471 34,066 
  Accumulated depreciation (102,778) (76,320) (32,301) (30,524 )

  Net book amount 49,642 53,811 11,170 3,542 
        
 

19 Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is calculated using the enacted income tax rate of 30% (2008: 30%). The movement on the deferred income tax 
account is as follows:

           group bank 

   2010 2009 2010 2009 
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  As at 1 January 51,651 95,120 (1,264) (2,161 )
  Income statement credit/(charge) (Note 9)      
  - Current year (44,898) (38,713) 7,462 5,470 
  Currency translation differences 1,266 (183) - - 
  Deferred tax on movement in revaluation
  of available for sale securities (1,762) (4,573) (1,762) (4,573)
                 
  As at 31 December 6,257          51,651 4,436     (1,264 )
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19 Deferred income tax (continued)
The deferred income tax asset and deferred income tax charge/(credit) in the income statement are attributable to the following 
items:

       
   group  

   1.1.2010 (Charged)/  (Charged)/ 31.12.2010
    Credited Credited
    to P/l to equity
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 

  year ended 31 december 2010
  Deferred income tax assets      
  Property and equipment - historical cost basis 76,305 (77,688) -    (1,383) 

  Tax losses carried forward          1,355 - - 1,355 
  Other temporary differences (7,245) 32,558 - 25,313 
  Translation Differences (14,191) - 1,266 (12,925) 
  Revaluation of available for sale securities (4,573) - (1,762) (6,335) 
  Under provision prior year - 232 - 232 

  Net deferred income tax assets 51,651 (44,898) (496) 6,257 
        

    2010 2009 
    shs’000 shs’000 

  Analysed as follows:    

  Deferred income tax asset  6,257 52,915 
  Deferred income tax Liabilities  - (1,264 )

  At end of year  6,257 51,651 
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19 Deferred income tax (continued)
         

   1.1.2009 (Charged)/  (Charged)/ 31.12.2009
    Credited Credited
    to P/l to equity
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000  

  year ended 31 december 2009    
  Deferred income tax assets      
  Property and equipment - historical cost basis 67,953 8,352 - 76,305

  Tax losses carried forward 57,373 (56,018) - 1,355
  Other temporary differences (16,198) 8,953 - (7,245)
  Translation Differences (14,008) - (183) (14,191)
  Revaluation of available for sale securities            - - (4,573) (4,573)

  net deferred income tax assets 95,120 (38,713) (4,756) 51,651
       

 
   bank 

   1.1.2010 (Charged)/  (Charged)/ 31.12.2010
    Credited Credited
    to P/l to equity
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 
   
  year ended 31 december 2010  
  Deferred income tax liability        
  Property and equipment - historical cost basis 7,781 (860) -   6,921 
  Deferred income tax assets      
  
  Provision for impairment (2,927) 9,239              -        6,312 
  Other deductible temporary differences (1,545) (1,149)               -     (2,694) 
  Revaluation of available for sale securities (4,573) - (1,762)      (6,335) 
  Under provision of deferred  tax prior year - 232 -       232 

  Net deferred income tax liabilities (1,264) 7,462      (1,762) 4,436 
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19 Deferred income tax (continued)
    
   bank 

   1.1.2009 (Charged)/  (Charged)/ 31.12.2009
    Credited Credited
    to P/l to equity
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000  

  year ended 31 december 2009     
  Deferred income tax liability     
  Property and equipment - historical cost basis 5,112 2,669 - 7,781 

  deferred income tax assets
  Provision for Impairment (5,793) 2,866 - (2,927) 
  Other deductible temporary differences (1,480) (65) - (1,545)
  Revaluation of available for sale securities                  - - (4,573) (4,573)

   (7,273) 2,801 (4,573) (9,045 )

  Net deferred income tax liabilities (2,161) 5,470 (4,573) (1,264) 
        

20  Other assets 
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

  Items in course of collection  95,065 144,647 95,065 70,668
  Prepayments  60,993 139,178 38,459 32,996
  Deposit for share subscription - - 19,170 19,170
  Others 220,101 96,566 124,299 34,181

   376,159 380,391 276,993 157,015
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21 Intangible assets - goodwill 
   group 

    2010 2009 
    shs’000 shs’000 

  As at 31 December  21,812 21,812 
     

Impairment tests for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) identified according to the country of operation. 

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based 
on financial budgets approved by management covering a three-year period. Cash flows beyond the three-year period are extrapolated 
using estimated growth rates. The growth rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rates for the Fina Bank S. A. Rwanda 
business in which the CGUs operate.
 
Based on the above, the Bank does not consider the goodwill impaired.

22 Customer deposits
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Current and demand deposits  6,123,832 5,310,766 3,070,121 2,580,593
  Savings accounts  1,252,590 940,774 1,070,506 901,033
  Fixed deposit accounts  9,512,504 8,486,692 7,449,796 6,504,197

   16,888,926 14,738,232 11,590,423 9,985,823

  Current 15,028,759 12,592,152 9,730,256 7,839,743
  Non current 1,860,167 2,146,080 1,860,167 2,146,080

   16,888,926 14,738,232 11,590,423 9,985,823
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23 Deposits due to other banks   
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Due to local banking institution 350,592 493,705 350,592 493,704
  Due to foreign banking Institution 940,800 700,494 274,338 169,602

   1,291,392 1,194,199 624,930 663,306
 

24 Borrowings   
FMO loan relates to a loan received from a Netherlands based development partner to support the Bank’s SME lending portfolio. 
The loan is unsecured and is repayable within two years at an interest rate pegged to the 182 days treasury bill rate plus 225 basis 
points.
 
During the year the bank issued a 7 year subordinated medium term-note at a price of 9.5% to support its expansion program and longer 
term loan book. The bond qualifies for Tier II capital. 
The amounts outstanding as at 31 December 2010 are as follows:

   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009 
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  FMO Loan  223,839 298,452 223,839 298,452
  Medium Term Note 194,800 - 194,800 -
  Accrued interest  on Loan & Note 3,517 8,856 3,517 8,856

   422,156 307,308 422,156 307,308
        

25 Other liabilities  
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Items in transit 6,186 81,919  6,186 23,276
  Outstanding bankers cheques 30,924 21,654 30,924 21,654
  Derivative financial instruments - 5,835 - 5,835 
  Others 260,224 115,651 88,401 71,719

   297,334 225,059 125,511 122,484
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26 Share capital 
   number of shares ordinary shares share Premium
    shs’000 shs’000

  Balance at 31 December 2009 & 2010  528,308 528,308 154,922
       

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 600,000 with a par value of Shs 1,000 per share; 528,308 of this has been issued and 
fully paid.

27  Regulatory Reserve 
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  As at 1 January 65,280 63,158 41,414 63,158
  Transfer from retained earnings (35,118) 2,122 (36,627)      (21,744)

  As at 31 December 30,162 65,280 4,787 41,414

The regulatory reserve represents an appropriation from retained earnings to comply with the Central Bank of Kenya’s Prudential Regulations. 
The balance in the reserve represents the excess of impairment provisions determined in accordance with the Prudential Regulations over 
the impairment provisions recognised in accordance with the Bank’s accounting policy. The reserve is non-distributable.
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28 Other reserves      
   group bank 

   Revaluation Currency total  
   Available-for-sale translation
   Assets  Reserve  
  group shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  balance at 1 January 2009 - 28,824 28,824  -
  Revaluation – Available for Sale Assets 15,245 - 15,245 15,245
  Deferred tax on revaluation of available for sale securities (4,574)  (4,574) (4,574)
  Currency translation differences - (19,852) (19,852)  -

  balance at 31 december 2009 10,671 8,972 19,643 10,671

  Revaluation – Available for Sale Assets 5,871 - 5,871 5,871
  Deferred tax on revaluation of available for sale securities (1,761) - (1,761) (1,761)
  Currency translation differences - 12,381 12,381  -

  balance at 31 december 2010 14,781 21,353 36,134 14,781

29 Off-balance sheet financial instruments, contingent liabilities and commitments
 

In common with other banks, the Group conducts business involving acceptances, letters of credit, guarantees, performance bonds 
and indemnities. The majority of these facilities are offset by corresponding obligations of third parties. In addition, there are other off-
balance sheet financial instruments including forward contracts for the purchase and sale of foreign currencies, the nominal amounts 
for which are not reflected in the balance sheet.

   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Acceptances and letters of credit 398,937 395,781 318,652 346,659
  Guarantees and performance bonds  1,452,492 790,123 812,202 530,642

   1,851,429 1,185,904 1,130,854 877,301
        

  Nature of contingent liabilities
An acceptance is an undertaking by a bank to pay a bill of exchange drawn on a customer. The Bank expects most acceptances to be 
presented, and reimbursement by the customer is normally immediate.  

Letters of credit commit the Bank to make payments to third parties, on production of documents, which are subsequently reimbursed 
by customers.
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29 Off-balance sheet financial instruments, contingent liabilities and commitments    
     (continued)

Guarantees are generally written by a bank to support performance by a customer to third parties. The Bank will only be required to 
meet these obligations in the event of the customer’s default.

  Operating lease commitments  
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Not later than one year  40,375 37,462 40,375 37,462
  Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  117,200 155,091 117,200 155,091
  Later than 5 years  36,518 54,731 36,518 54,731

   194,093 247,284 194,093 247,284

  Other Commitments
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Undrawn formal stand-by facilities, credit lines 
  and other commitments to lend  971,869 826,416 428,577 501,847
  Foreign exchange forward contracts  69,964 67,356 69,964 67,356

   1,041,833 893,772 498,541 569,203

        

  Nature of commitments
Commitments to lend are agreements to lend to a customer in future subject to certain conditions. Such commitments are normally made 
for a fixed period. The bank may withdraw from its contractual obligation for the undrawn portion of agreed overdraft limits by giving 
reasonable notice to the customer.
 
Foreign exchange forward contracts are agreements to buy or sell a specified quantity of foreign currency, usually on a specified future 
date at an agreed rate.
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30 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents as shown in the cash flow statement
   group 

    2010 2009 
    shs’000 shs’000 

  Cash and Balances with Central Banks (Note 11)  1,915,445 1,117,158 
  Less: Cash reserve ratio  (835,726) (690,449 )
  Government Securities maturing within 90 days of the date of acquisition (Note 12)   1,467,278 1,657,661 
  Deposits and balances due from other banks (Note 13)  852,713 1,238,693 
  Deposits due to other banks (Note 23)  (1,291,392) (1,194,199 )

    2,108,318 2,128,864 

     
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than 90 days maturity from the date 
of acquisition including: cash and balances with central banks, Treasury bills and other eligible bills, and amounts due from other banks. 
Cash and cash equivalents exclude the cash reserve requirement held with the Central Banks.

Banks are required to maintain a prescribed minimum cash balance with the Central Bank of Kenya that is not available to finance the 
bank’s day-to-day activities. The amount is determined as 4.5% (2009:4.5%) of the average outstanding customer deposits over a cash 
reserve cycle period of one month.

31 Related party transactions
Parties are considered related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over that party’s 
financial or operational decisions. In the normal course of business, current accounts are operated and placements made between the 
group companies at interest rates in line with market. The relevant balances at the end of the year and income/ expense thereon are 
shown below:

   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  a) Amounts due from:  - -  -
      Group Companies 3,904 5,208 9,112 5,208

  Interest income earned - - 512  -
 

  b) Amounts due to:      
      Group companies - - -  -

  Interest expense incurred  - - 1,015  -
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31 Related party transactions (continued)
Advances to customers at 31 December 2010 include loans to directors, loans to companies controlled by directors or their families, 
and loans to employees as follows:

  c) loans to directors 
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  At start of year    92,944 58,155    70,732 47,613 
  Advanced during the year 36,811 41,442 11,505 32,298 
  Interest charged 6,676 5,395 5,069 732 
  Repaid during the year (16,813) (12,048) (2,632) (9,911) 

  At end of year 119,618 92,944 84,674 70,732 

  Interest income earned 6,676 5,395 5,069 732 
        
 

At 31 December 2010, advances to companies controlled by directors or their families amounted to Shs 97 million (2009: Shs 80 million).

At 31 December 2010, advances to employees amounted to Shs 85 million (2009: Shs 95 million).

All the above loans were given on commercial terms and at market rates.

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties (2009: nil).
     

  d) deposits by directors
     group bank 

   2010 2009 2010 2009 
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 

  At start of year 21,309 51,197 20,537 48,695 
  Net movement  66,743 (31,417) 63,330 (30,737 )
  Interest credited 3,412 2,579 3,412 2,579 

  At end of year 91,464 22,359 87,279 20,537 

  Interest expenses incurred 3,412 2,579 3,412 2,579 
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31 Related party transactions (continued)
 e) key management compensation   
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Salaries and other short-term employment benefits  166,368 123,526 81,618 74,606
  Termination benefits  - - -  -
  Other long-term benefits  - - -  -

   166,368 123,526 81,618 74,606
        

 f) directors remuneration
   group bank

   2010 2009 2010 2009
   shs’000 shs’000 shs’000 shs’000

  Fees for services as a director  22,347 23,130 12,418 13,819
  Other emoluments 
  (included in key management compensation above) 49,608 51,730 13,200 17,319

   71,955 74,860 25,618 31,138

Notes (Continued)
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